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Chairman’s Statement & Management Discussion and Analysis

TEREMNEREN MO

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of
Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited (the “Company”), |
hereby present the audited results of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “"Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year"”).

FINAL RESULTS AND FINAL DIVIDEND

The Group’s audited consolidated net loss attributable
to shareholders was approximately HK$44.1 million for
the Year (2021: HK$22.6 million) which was mainly
attributable to the net loss on listed investments and
impairment of financial assets. Loss per share for the Year
was approximately HK$0.16 (2021. HK$0.09).

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the Year (20217 Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company is an investment company and the
Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 27 October 1999, pursuant to Chapter
21 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”). During the Year, the
Group remains principally engaged in listed investments in
Hong Kong and in unlisted companies.

Given the liquidity of stock markets worldwide was
continuously improved during the Year, the performance
of listed investments of the Group enhanced accordingly.
The listed equity investments has posted net realised
loss of approximately HK$47.0 million (2021: gain of
HK$3.0 million) and unrealised gain of approximately
HK$29.9 million (2021: HK$9.0 million). During the Year,
the Board remained focus on listed equity in Hong Kong.
The Company is cautious in identifying any investment
opportunities to achieve medium-term or long-term capital
appreciation.
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Chairman’s Statement & Management Discussion and Analysis

TEREMNEREN MO

In order to keep reasonable spread of the Group’s
investments, the Board will maintain a diversified
investment portfolio to cover a wide range of business
sectors, including, but not limited to, companies engaged
in sectors such as finance, consumer goods and services,
media, construction, mining, etc.

The investment portfolio of the Group as at 31 December
2022 mainly comprises of a portfolio of listed shares in 30
companies of HK$118.9 million and investment in unlisted
bond investment in a listed company of HK$17.1 million
which represent approximately 64.2% and 9.2% of the
Group’s consolidated net asset value respectively.

During the Year, the Group disposed of 16 shares or 16%
of its equity interest in Keen Champ Investments Limited,
which is holding operating rights and forestry management
of forest trees, consideration of HK$50.0 million. No gain
or loss on disposal was recorded during the Year.

In addition, the Group also disposed of 2,990 shares or
29.9% of its equity interest in Keen Champ Investments
Limited, which is principally engages in the electronic
commerce industry specializing on the provision of
integrated application, consideration of HK$8.5 million. No
gain or loss on disposal was recorded during the Year.

In connection with unlisted bond investment, the Group
held an unlisted bond Investment in AMCO United Holding
Limited ("AMCO").
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Chairman’s Statement & Management Discussion and Analysis

TEREMNEREN MO

AMCO is a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited
liability and principally engaged in medical device businesses.
The company operates through five business segments,
namely Medical Devices Business, Plastic Molding Business,
Building Contract Works Business, Money Lending Businesses
and Securities Investment. The company operates businesses
in the regions of Asia, Europe and North and South Americas.
It is listed on main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
630). Based on AMCO’s interim report for the six months
ended 30 June 2022, its net asset value was approximately
HK$93.9 million, its net current assets were approximately
HK$151.9 million. Accordingly, the Company considers that
AMCO has sufficient working capital to meet the ongoing
business, there is no signal of default of bonds issued by
AMCO.

Based on the valuation reports and other relevant documents,
the valuation of the Group's stake in AMCO as at 31
December 2022 were approximately HK$17.1 million. There
was decrease in the value of investment in bond investment
in AMCO of approximately HK$3.8 million during the Year.

The Group held three significant listed equity investments,
which are WLS Holdings Limited (“WLS") (HKSE stock code:
8021), SEEC Media Group Limited ("SEEC") (HKSE stock
code: 205) and Asia Grocery Distribution Limited (“Asia
Grocery”) (HKSE stock code: 8413) as at 31 December 2022.
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Chairman’s Statement & Management Discussion and Analysis

TEREMNEREN MO

WLS is principally engaged in the scaffolding and fitting
out services, management contracting services and other
services for construction and buildings work, money
lending business, securities brokerage and margin
financing and securities investment business. For the
year ended 30 April 2022, the audited consolidated loss
attributable to owners of WLS was HK$12.0 million. The
percentage of fair value of the Group's investment in WLS
to the Group's total assets as at 31 December 2022 was
approximately 25.7%. The unrealised gain on the Group
investments in WLS during the Year was approximately
HK$12.5 million. As WLS is one of the leading scaffolding
sub-contractors in the industry, the management of WLS
are confident about securing more contracts which based
on the HKSAR's land supply and residential units forecast
in the coming years. The Company believes the WLS's
business strategy is in line with the overall direction of the
government's strategic development plans for property
construction, infrastructure investment and financial
market development, and profit will be generated in
medium terms.

SEEC Media is principally engaged in the provision of
advertising agency services, distribution of books and
magazines, securities brokerage business, money lending
business and e-commerce business in the People’s Republic
of China and in Hong Kong. For the year ended 31
December 2021, the audited consolidated loss attributable
to owners of SEEC Media was HK$40.1 million. The
percentage of fair value of the Group’s investment in SEEC
to the Group’s total assets as at 31 December 2022 was
approximately 5.8%. The unrealised loss on the Group
investments in SEEC during the Year was approximately
HK$0.2 million. Based on SEEC Media’s 2022 interim
report, it has proactively developed its advertising business,
especially the digital media marketing and the multi-
channel network business which the market is growing
rapidly in recent years. The Company believes the SEEC
Media’s will maintain its cautiously optimistic outlook and
explore other suitable investment opportunities which are
able to bring satisfactory and sustainable returns to SEEC
Media and maximize the shareholders’ value.
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Chairman’s Statement & Management Discussion and Analysis

TEREMNEREN MO

Asia Grocery is principally engaged in the provision of
food and beverage grocery distribution and provision
of food catering services through restaurants in Hong
Kong. For the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the
audited consolidated loss attributable to owners of Asia
Grocery was HK$2.1 million. The percentage of fair value
of the Group's investment in Asia Grocery to the Group's
total assets as at 31 December 2022 was approximately
5.7%. The unrealised gain on the Group investments in
Asia Grocery during the Year was approximately HK$5.6
million. Asia Grocery supplied over 300 brands of products
originated from different areas, with customers covering
restaurants,
hotels and private clubs, food processing operators and
wholesalers in Hong Kong. The Company believes the
Asia Grocery’s will continue to explore the potential of
this business opportunities and utilize its resource with
prudence in the future, and Asia Grocery will bring positive
return to its shareholders in long run.

non-commercial dining establishments,

Performance of the Group’s Listed Securities

The loss on listed securities of approximately HK$17.1
million for the Year represented net realised loss in disposal
of listed securities of approximately HK$47.0 million, net
of net unrealised gain of listed securities of approximately
HK$29.9 million. Set out below are further information of
these net realised gain and unrealised gain:

Net Realised Loss on Disposal of Listed Securities

The net realised loss on disposal of listed securities of
approximately HK$47.0 million represented the realised
loss on disposal of a stock-Legendary Group Limited (HKSE
stock Code: 8195) of approximately HK$46.8 million,
which were recognised during the Year. There was no
stock sold by the Group, which brought the Group realised
gain or loss over HK$0.3 million during the Year.
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Chairman’s Statement & Management Discussion and Analysis
FTEHENEIEE N m &L

Net Unrealised Gain of Listed Securities R FZARER NS FHE
The net unrealised gain of approximately HK$29.8 million 7 & IR I 25 )F 58 478 # 29,800,000 T 36 K
represented the unrealised gain of approximately HK$65.4 %38 Iz 49785 #65,400,0007C 1 Fr < B 1R

million net of unrealised loss of approximately HK$35.6  &1849%% 35,600,000 °
million.

The unrealised gain principally represented: AREBW R EEIE:

Unrealised gain

RER W=

Company name HKSE Stock code HK$ million
YNGR =BT IR 4R 5R EEEET
Legendary Group Limited 8195 47 1
BIREAEBEBR QA
WLS Holdings Limited 8021 12.5
EEREERBRA
Asia Grocery Dlstr|bution Limited 8413 5.6

SMNEEBRAF

In addition to the above three stocks, there is no stock B bt
JASN==o)
RES
fks

ZEREINRAFEER  HEEM
which brought over HK$0.2 million gain to the Group 7N £ (8] %5 3 5 #5200,0007T MA £ 2 ik

during the Year.

The unrealised loss principally represented: AEBBEEXZE:

Unrealised loss

REREE

Company name HKSE Stock code HK$ million
YNGR =B TR 0 R5R EEEET
China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited 802 8.2
TREEEXNEEGR AT
AMCO United Holding Limited 630 4.0
ERERBRA
Milan Station Holdmgs Limited 1150 3.3
KEWMIERARA
China National Culture Group Limited 745 2.8
FEBERXIEEXEBEAR QA
China Properties Investment Holdings Limited 736 2.3

TEERKREERBER QA

In addition to the above five stocks, there is no stock B LMl AEREIIN RAFENRN  BEEEM
which incurred unrealised loss on disposal over HK$2  [% 22 ¥ 7N £ [E 3 5K /8 #52,000,000T A 2
million to the Group during the Year. REBHEBRE-
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Chairman’s Statement & Management Discussion and Analysis

TEREMNEREN MO

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity, Financial Resource, Capital Structure and
Gearing Ratio

The Group's asset portfolio was mainly financed by
internally generated cash resources. As at 31 December
2022, net current assets of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$168.0 million (2021: HK$158.5 million)
with cash and bank balances of approximately HK$7.4
million (2021: HK$0.6 million).
asset value per share of the Company as at 31 December
2022 was HK$0.66 (2021: HK$0.79). The consolidated
net asset value per share as at 31 December 2022 is
calculated based on the net assets of the Group of
approximately HK$185.1 million (2021: HK$217.0 million)
and 281,181,680 ordinary shares of the Company at par
value of HK$0.001 each in issue as at that date (2021:
275,601,680 shares at par value of HK$0.001 each).

The consolidated net

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had no
outstanding bank borrowing (2021: Nil). The gearing ratio
of the Group was 0.8% as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
0.3%), which is calculated based on the Group’s total
liabilities divided by its total assets. Taking into account of
the amount of liquid assets in hand and available short-
term or margin loan facilities, the Group has sufficient
financial resources to meet its ongoing operational
requirements.

Although no capital exercise was run by the Company
during the Year, the Board has been actively seeking fund
raising opportunities to strengthen the Company’s financial
position.
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Chairman’s Statement & Management Discussion and Analysis

TEREMNEREN MO

Charge of Assets and Margin Facilities

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, margin facilities
from several regulated securities brokers were granted
to the Group which were secured by the Group’s listed
investments. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the
Group had not utilised against these facilities.

Material Acquisitions and Disposal of Subsidiaries,
Associates and Joint Ventures

During the Year, the Company does not have any
significant acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures.

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 15 employees
(2021: 15), including directors of the Company. They
are remunerated based on their performance, working
experience and prevailing market standards. Employee
benefits include medical insurance coverage, a defined
contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance and share option scheme. There has
been no significant change in the Group's remuneration

policy.

Comprehensive disclosure of directors’ emoluments
pursuant to section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance is set out in note 10(a) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Chairman’s Statement & Management Discussion and Analysis

TEREMNEREN MO

Foreign Currency Fluctuation

The Group's exposures to foreign currencies mainly arises
from its investments in companies located in the PRC,
which are financed internally. In order to mitigate the
potential impact of currency fluctuations, the Group
closely monitors its foreign currency exposures and will use
suitable hedging instruments against significant foreign
currency exposures, where necessary. No foreign currency
hedge contract was entered into by the Group during
the Year. As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no
outstanding foreign currency hedge contracts (2021: Nil).

Future Plans for Material Investments or Capital
Assets and Their Expected of Funding in Coming Year
As at 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Company does not have any concrete plan for
material investments or capital assets.

PROSPECTS

Year 2022 extends the challenging period from Year 2021.
The outbreak of COVID-19 has killed over 6 million people
and infected more than 760 million people globally. As
many countries, especially those in the West, have adopted
the policies of coexisting with COVID-19 in last few years,
the damage led by COVID-19 on the economy was less
serious as compared to those adopted in recent months.
Although business activities of many countries have been
resumed, at least partially, the performance of major
stock markets did not fully reflect it. Dow Jones Industrial
Index changed the overall rising pattern in Year 2021, and
dropped by around 8.8% from 36,338 points at the end of
Year 2021 to 33,147 points at 31 December 2022. Hang
Seng Index continued its descending trend in last year and
decreased by approximately 15.5% in the year ended 31
December 2022 from 23,397 points at the end of Year
2021 to 19,781 points at 31 December 2022. Both Dow
Jones Industrial Index and Hang Seng Index experienced
considerable falling may be related to the commencement
of Russia-Ukraine War and the outbreak of COVID-19.
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Chairman’s Statement & Management Discussion and Analysis

TEREMNEREN MO

The continuing Russia-Ukraine War and supply chain
disruptions caused by COVID-19 led high inflation to US
and other countries. In order to fight against the high
inflation, the Federal Reserve raised the target range for
the fed funds rate by 50bps to 4.25%-4.5% during its
December 2022 meeting, the seventh consecutive rate
hike, and pushing borrowing costs to the highest level
since 2019. The continuing increase in interest rate caused
negative impact on both capital and business markets.
In March 2023, amid an environment of central bank-
endorsed interest rate hikes following a period of global
inflation, there was a run on the deposits of Silicon Valley
Bank, which led to its collapse and seizure on March 10,
2023 by the California Department of Financial Protection
and Innovation (DFPI), its regulator. Citing inadequate
liguidity and insolvency, state officials at the DFPI
appointed the FDIC receiver of the bank. This marked the
second-largest bank failure in U.S. history and took place
alongside similar issues noted in other banks.

In Europe, European Commission in its “Winter 2023
Economic Forecast” lifts the outlook for growth and
slightly lowers the inflation projections. Growth for 2022 is
now estimated at 3.5% in both the EU and the euro area.
GDP is projected to expand by 0.8% in 2023 and 1.6% in
2024 (0.9% and 1.5% in the euro area). Headline inflation
is forecast to fall from 9.2% in 2022 to 6.4% in 2023 and
2.8% in 2024 in the EU. In the euro area, it is projected
to decelerate from 8.4% in 2022 to 5.6% in 2023 and to
2.5% in 2024.
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Chairman’s Statement & Management Discussion and Analysis

TEREMNEREN MO

Since autumn of Year 2022, the EU economy has seen
a number of positive developments. The European gas
benchmark price has fallen below its pre-war level,
helped by a sharp fall in gas consumption and continued
diversification of supply sources. With hindsight, the
resilience of households and corporations has been
impressive. Despite the energy shock and ensuing record
high inflation, the slowdown in the third quarter turned
out milder than previously estimated and in the fourth
quarter, the EU economy managed a broad stagnation,
instead of the 0.5% contraction expected in autumn of
Year 2022.

Similar in the banks in US, Credit Suisse Group AG faced
collapsed in early March 2023. On 9 February 2023, Credit
Suisse reported an annual loss of CHF 7.3 bn, the biggest
loss since the 2008 global financial crisis. On 14 March of
that same year, Credit Suisse published its annual report
for 2022 saying it had identified “material weaknesses”
in controls over financial reporting. On 15 March 2023,
Credit Suisse’ share price dropped nearly 25 percent after
Saudi National Bank, its largest investor, said it could not
provide more financial assistance. The market price of the
bank’s unsecured bonds set for maturity in 2027 dropped
to a low of 33 percent of their par value on that day,
down from being valued at 90 percent of their par value
at the beginning of the month. Later in the same week,
Credit Suisse sought to shore up their finances by taking
a loan of 50 billion Swiss francs from the Swiss National
Bank (SNB); the bank later proceeded to buy three billion
Swiss francs of its own debt and to put the Baur en Ville
hotel in Zurich for sale. However, this intervention did not
stop investors and customers from pulling their money out
of Credit Suisse, with outflows topping 10 billion Swiss
francs during the week. The situation was so compromised
that the SNB and the Swiss government started discussions
to fast-track the bank’s acquisition by UBS. On 19 March
2023, UBS announced a deal had been reached to acquire
Credit Suisse for US$3.25 billion (CHF 3 billion) in an all-
stock deal.
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Chairman’s Statement & Management Discussion and Analysis

TEREMNEREN MO

Different from previous years, more problems happened to
China’s economy in the first half of Year 2022. Increase in
daily new COVID-19 cases from double-digit numbers in
early Year 2022 to over 99 million cases in March 2023.
However, the China's economy has improved along with
the easing of some coronavirus rules adopted in late Year
2022. Consistent with last few years, US-China tensions
may continue to affect economy of China to a certain
extent.

In view of the above analysis, there is no clear signal of
the development of worldwide investment in the coming
year. We will continue to monitor the market dynamics,
and adopt a conservative approach on investments, so as
to enhance value to our Shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to express our appreciation to the staff and
management team of the Group for their contribution
during the Year and also to give our sincere gratitude to
our shareholders for their continuous support.

By order of the Board
Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited
BERFEXRERNFGRAF

YE Ying
Chairman

Hong Kong
31 March 2023
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Biographical Details of Directors
ESEAEBRE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. SHUM Kit Lan Anita, aged 61, is a director and a
responsible officer of Chariot Capital Management Limited.
She is currently a licensed person to carry out type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the Securities and
Futures Ordinance. Ms. SHUM has a wealth of working
experience in securities advisory, corporate finance,
corporate management and fund management. Ms. Shum
was appointed as an executive director (”"Director”)
of Unity Investments Holdings Limited (now known as
“Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited”) in November
2014,

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. YE Ying, aged 41, has many years’ solid experience
in finance industry in Mainland China. Ms. YE was the
general manager of a sub-branch company of China
Life Insurance Company Limited from 2003 to 2005, the
general manager of banking insurance department of The
People’s Insurance Company (Group) of China Limited from
2005 to 2007, and the Head of sub-branch of Agricultural
Bank of China Limited from 2007 to 2011. She is currently
the Chief Executive Officer, a director and controlling
shareholder of GBI Global Financial Group Limited (“GBI"),
a private company established in Hong Kong. The principal
business of GBI is investment of the assets of Ms. YE and
her family. She was appointed as a non-executive Director
and the Chairman of the board of Directors in November
2021 and January 2022 respectively.

Ms. HU Xiaoting, aged 43, holds a Master degree
in Finance from Dongbei University of Finance and
Economics. She has over 10 years’ solid experience in
finance industry in the PRC. Ms. HU was appointed as a
non-executive Director in June 2017.
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Biographical Details of Directors
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. HUNG Cho Sing, aged 82, has over 30 years of
experience in the film distribution industry and founded
Delon International Film Corporation in 1970. Mr. HUNG
has been the chairman of Hong Kong, Kowloon and New
Territories Motion Picture Industry Association Limited
since 1991 and was the chairman of Hong Kong Film
Awards Association Limited from 1993 to 1995. Mr. HUNG
was appointed by the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (“HKSAR") Government as a member of the
Hong Kong Film Development Council from 2007 to
31 March 2013. Mr. HUNG was also appointed as a
consultant of the China Film Association since 2013.
Mr. HUNG is also a member of HKSAR Election Committee
and a vice chairman of the Cultural Profession Committee
of the Guangdong, Hong Kong and Macau Cooperation
Promotion Council (ERE BB RS ERESEXILE
¥ZXE28ETZLE8). Mr. HUNG was awarded the
Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) by the HKSAR Government
in 2005 in recognition of his contribution to the Hong
Kong Film industry. Mr. HUNG has been appointed by
the HKSAR Government as a non-official member of the
Working Group on Manufacturing Industries, Innovative
Technology, and Cultural and Creative Industries under
the Economic Development Commission since 17 January
2013. He has been the vice chairman of Film Association
of Guangdong, China since November 2016. Mr. HUNG
was appointed as independent non-executive Director in
October 2014. Mr. HUNG is currently an executive director
of EJE (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited (stock code: 8101).
He is also an independent non-executive director of
Oshidori International Holdings Limited (stock code: 622),
KOALA Financial Group Limited (stock code: 8226), Miko
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1247) and
China Star Entertainment Limited (stock code: 326).
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Biographical Details of Directors
ESEAEBRE

Ms. CHUNG Fai Chun, aged 57, is currently a deputy
general manager of a watchcase factory. She has over
20 years’ ample experience in the watchcase production
industry, and has a wealth of experience in marketing,
business operation and management. Ms. Chung was
appointed as independent non-executive Director in
December 2014.

Mr. YU Tat Chi Michael, aged 58, holds a bachelor of
commerce degree from the University of New South Wales,
Australia. He is a fellow member of the CPA Australia
and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. YU is also a founding member
of The Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive Director
Association. Mr. YU has many years of experience in
accounting, corporate finance and asset management. He
had held senior management positions in several listed
companies in Hong Kong. He is currently an independent
non-executive director of each of Golden Resources
Development International Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
677), Applied Development Holdings Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 519), China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited
(a company listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 8071), WT Group Holding Limited (a company listed
of GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8422), and
Lerado Financial Group Company Limited (a company
limited on Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
1225). Mr. YU was an independent non-executive director
of EVOC Intelligent Technology Company Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 2308) during the period from May 2016 to
May 2021. Mr. YU has extensive experience in the field of
accounting. Mr. YU was appointed as independent non-
executive Director in August 2020.
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Directors’ Report
EEEWE

The directors (the “Directors”) of Harbour Digital
Asset Capital Limited (the “Company”) herein present
their report and the audited financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the
“Year").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group are investment
holding. During the Year, the Group was principally
engaged in listed investments in Hong Kong, main stock
markets around the world, and also in unlisted companies.

The segment information of the Group for the Year is set
out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Group’s loss for the Year and the state of affairs of the
Company and the Group as at 31 December 2022 are set
out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 86,
166 and 87 to 88, respectively.

No interim dividend was paid by the Company during the
Year (2021: Nil) and the Board does not recommend the
payment of a final dividend for the Year (2021. Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Fair review of the Company’s business and likely
future development

Please refer to “Chairman’s Statement & Management
Discussion & Analysis” on pages 4 to 15.

Principal risks and uncertainties
Please refer to note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BEHBFEXREANERAR([F28])2
Ex([EBDENRERSZREERAR
REREKBAR (GHE A5l EE—
E-_F+_A=+T—RUEFE(FXFE])
BT

FEER

KRB 2 TR X RIEER - N AFEEA -
AEBZEZXHARERBTERERE
EREMIG 2 LHRE  MERENRIFLT

NEIR

AEERAFEE 2D BENEY
TR FES

B 15

2.8
S
np

W

EBERRBRE
REEBRAFEZEBULRARARRASE
BR-_ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—HZEKMRK
D RIS 86 « 166 K87E88H ¥ 434 BF
e

NABRAFEARTERNPERE (—ZF
T FE) MEEENTEEZRAFE
R RERE (ZE——F :f&) o

£ e
RARRBOPSEER TRERREE

FB2HFRARISA [T ERENEEETH
Koy tfr] —ffie

TERARRTIRERSE
B2HRE WA 27 -

5 B

FTEXEABR AR 2022 Fi#f

19



Directors’ Report
EEoHE

Environmental Protection

The Group has taken an initiative to promote employees’
awareness of environmental protection and the need to
achieve efficient utilisation of resources through launching
paper recycling and setting auto power saving mode on
the Company’'s computers in offices.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group's principal activities are investments in listed
or unlisted financial instruments in Hong Kong and
elsewhere. The Company has to invest in accordance
with the restrictions stated in its articles of association.
Meanwhile, the Company is a company listed in Hong
Kong. The Group also has to comply with the Listing
Rules. During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up
to the date of this report and to the best of the Directors’
knowledge and belief, the Group has complied with the
relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong and other
jurisdictions as far as its investments are concerned.

Company’s key relationships with its employees

The Group has provided employees with opportunities to
advance their career. The Group’s policy is to encourage
employees to take part in professional examinations,
seminars and training courses related to their roles and
duties through leave grants. Competitive remuneration
is also offered to employees and their performance is
reviewed on an annual basis reflecting each employee’s
contributions to the Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted
from the audited financial statements, is set out on page
168. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the Year in share capital
of the Company are set out in note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT
The directors of the Company during the Year and up to
the date of this annual report are as follows:

Executive Director:
Ms. SHUM Kit Lan Anita

Non-executive Directors:
Ms. YE Ying
Ms. HU Xiaoting

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. HUNG Cho Sing

Ms. CHUNG Fai Chun

Mr. YU Tat Chi Michael

In accordance with Article 157 of the articles of association
of the Company, Ms. SHUM Kit Lan Anita and Mr. YU Tat
Chi Michael shall retire from office at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.
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None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election
at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service
contract with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
A report on the principal corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out on pages 28 to 51.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST-PAID EMPLOYEES

Particulars of the emoluments of the Directors and the
five highest-paid employees of the Group during the Year
are set out in notes 10(a) and 10(b) to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTEREST AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

Save as disclosed in “SHARE OPTION SCHEME" in
Director’s Report and elsewhere of this annual report, as
at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors or the chief
executive of the Company had or were deemed to have
any Discloseable Interests or Short Position in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they are taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which
were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies contained in
the Listing Rules (collectively “Discloseable Interests or
Short Positions”).
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Save as disclosed in “SHARE OPTION SCHEME" in
Directors’ Report, at no time during the Year was
the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities
(including debentures) of, the Company or any other body
corporate, neither the Directors nor any of their spouses or
children under age of eighteen, had any right to subscribe
for the securities or debt securities of the Company or had
exercised any such rights.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party to and in which
Directors had a material interest in, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time
during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors and
their respective associates had any interest in a business
which causes or may cause a significant competition
with the business of the Group and any other conflict of
interests which any such person has or may have with the
Group.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company's articles of association and
subject to the provisions of the statutes, every Director
or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against
all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise
in relation thereto, and no Director or other officer shall
be liable for any loss, damages or misfortune which may
happen to or be incurred by the Company in the execution
of the duties of his office or in relation thereto, provided
that the Company’s articles of association shall only have
effect in so far as its provisions are not avoided by the
Companies Law of Cayman Islands. The Company has
maintained Directors and officers liability insurance during
the Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company
as detailed in note 21 to the consolidated financial
statements, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares or that require the
Company to enter into any agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares were entered into by
the Company during the year or subsisted at the end of
the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

The Company has not entered into any contract with any
individual, firm or corporate entity to manage or regulate
the whole of any substantial part of the Company’s
business.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME BB REET 2
Set out below is the schedule of movement of the TG AR A T@i;;;;i‘i— A
Company’s Options during the year ended 31 December —+—BIFFEERE RS
2022:
Number of
Number of Number ~ Number of Options Number of
Options held  of Options Options  cancelled/  Options held
as at granted exercised lapsed as at
1January  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe 31 December
Category Date of Grant Exercise Price  Option Period 2022 year year year 2022
AZBEZZF R-E-Zf
-R-8 REER REER rEER tZA=t-H
BEZ Rz iz #8/X%2 KE2
Ehl RHBH TRE BREDR BREHE BREZE BREHR BREHR BREHA
Directors
g3
Ms. HU Xiaoting 11 May 2020 HK$0.179 Three years from date of grant 1,860,000 - - - 1,860,000
BRERt CRIEERAT-R A%0AT9T  ARMAHEZF
Ms. CHUNG Fai Chun 11 May 2020 HK$0.179 Three years from date of grant 1,860,000 - - - 1,860,000
ERYLL CECRERAL-R BRI ERMEER=F
11 May 2021 HK$0.316 Three years from date of grant 750,000 - - - 750,000
ZEZ-FRAT-RA E%03ten  BREABHRZE
Employees (in aggregate) 11 May 2020 HK$0.179 Three years from date of grant 7,440,000 - (5,580,000 - 1,860,000
E&(&#) CRIEERAT-R A%0AT9T  ARMAHEZF
11 May 2021 HK$0.316 Three years from date of grant 16,500,000 - - - 16,500,000
ZTC-FRAT-B A%03len  ERMAHR=F
28 June 2021 HK$0.305 Three years from date of grant 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
CRC-ERAZTNR B%0305T  ARHMAHEZF
12 May 2022 HK$0.800 Three years from date of grant - 22,000,000 - - 22,000,000
“ERCCERATZA A0S  ARMAEEZE
28 June 2022 HK$0.780 Three years from date of grant - 5,500,000 - - 5,500,000
ZEIZERAZ +)\E| %%0 7807 E&ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂii
Total 33410000 27,500,000 (5,580,000) - 55,330,000
3
5,580,000 Options were exercised during the year ended HE—_ T4+ -_A=+—BItFEE-

31 December 2022. The weighted average closing price
of the Company’s shares, immediately before the date on
which the aforesaid 5,580,000 Options were exercised,

was HK$0.78.

Further details of existing share option scheme adopted by
the Company on 30 April 2013 are set out in note 21 to

the consolidated financial statements.

5,580,000 EE IR EEFT P o E 3% £l
5,580,0001n BB AR #EE 1T B Hi A - A
AIIR D 2 iEFH W T E & 0.78TT

ARAR-Z-—=FMA=THRKEMNZ
REBERAECE—TPHBARGEAY
BERRMEE21

BEHFTEEXEAAR LT 2022 £ 25
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RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group provides a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the "MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance to all staff. Under the MPF
Scheme, employer and employees are each required to
make mandatory contributions to the MPF Scheme and
contributions to the MPF Scheme vested immediately.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S SHARE

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
listed securities of the Company.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2022, there was no person who had
any interest or short position in the Shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had no material transactions with
its related parties during the Year.

The Directors conducted review of the related party
transactions of the Group during the Year and were not
aware any transaction requiring disclosure of connected
transactions in accordance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
articles of association of the Company although there are
no restrictions against such rights under the laws in the
Cayman Islands.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
as at the date of this annual report, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float in compliance with
Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the "“Audit
Committee”) as at the date of this annual report
comprises all independent non-executive directors, namely
Mr. YU Tat Chi Michael, Mr. HUNG Cho Sing and Ms.
CHUNG Fai Chun. Mr. YU Tat Chi Michael is the chairman
of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee, along with management, has
reviewed the consolidated results of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022, including accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and also discussed
matters such as internal controls, risk management, audit
and financial reporting, including a review of the audited
consolidated financial statements, for the financial year
ended 31 December 2022.

AUDITOR

Elite Partners CPA Limited will retire and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of Elite Partners CPA Limited as auditor of
the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited

RERFEXRERNFGRAT

SHUM Kit Lan Anita
Executive Director

Hong Kong
31 March 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is dedicated to an ongoing
enhancement of effective and efficient corporate
governance standards. The Board believes that high
corporate governance standards are essential in providing
framework for the Company to safeguard the interests
of the shareholders and to enhance corporate value and
accountability. The Company has applied the principles set
out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year”), the
Company has complied with all code provisions set out in
the CG Code, except for code provision C.2.1, details of
which will be explained below.

Based on Code provision C.2.1, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
should be clearly established and set out in writing. The
Company has not appointed the Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer since the resignation of Mr. NG
Chi Hoi on 1 August 2016. Ms. YE Ying was subsequently
appointed as the Chairman of the Board with effect from
3 January 2022. The Board’s current significant decisions
are made in Board meetings. Every Board member has
the rights and responsibility to propose Board meetings
to discuss significant issues he/she concerns, and has the
power to make the decisions among other Board members.

The practice of the corporate governance of the Company
will be reviewed and updated from time to time in order
to comply with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code"”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as
the code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
the directors of the Company. Upon specific enquiry by
the Company, all Directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the required standards as set out in the
Model Code for the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises
an executive Director, namely Ms. SHUM Kit Lan Anita; two
non-executive Directors, namely Ms. YE Ying (Chairman of
the Board) and Ms. HU Xiaoting; and three independent
non-executive Directors (“INED(s)”), namely Mr. HUNG
Cho Sing, Ms. CHUNG Fai Chun and Mr. YU Tat Chi
Michael. None of the Directors are, in any respect, related
to each other in any circumstances. Mr. YU Tat Chi Michael
has appropriate professional accounting experience and
expertise. The Board membership is covered by recognised
professional accounting and experienced personnel so as
to bring in valuable contribution and professional advice
for the development of the Company. None of Directors
has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation. Biographical details of each of
Director are set out on pages 16 to 18.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Board, at all times, has met the requirements of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs
representing at least one-third of the Board and at least
one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Board has received written annual confirmation from
each of the INEDs in respect of his/her independence in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board
considers all INEDs are independent under the definition of
the Listing Rules.

Mr. HUNG Cho Sing and Ms. CHUNG Fai Chun were
appointed for a fixed terms of three years from the date
of appointment and subsequently extended to 9 October
2023 and 18 December 2023 respectively. Mr. YU Tat Chi
Michael has no specific term of appointment. All INEDs are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at general
meeting of the Company in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company.

Responsibility, Accountabilities and Contributions of
the Board

The Board’s responsibilities is not limited to formulating
corporate strategies and setting up of business
development plans, but to also monitor and supervise the
performance of management and review the effectiveness
of internal controls including the scope of financial,
operational, compliance, risk management, as well as
preparing and approving financial statements of the
Group. Directors, collectively and individually, are aware
of their responsibilities to shareholders, for the manner
in which Company business and affairs are managed and
operated. All Directors, including INEDs, have brought a
wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.
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All Directors have full and timely access to all the
information of the Company as well as the service and
advice from the company secretary and management
of the Company. The Directors may, upon request,
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging
their duties to the Company.

All Directors have grave concern, sufficient time and
attention to all significant issues and affairs of the Group.
Day-to-day management, administration and operation of
the Group are delegated to the executive board members.
Executive Board meetings are convened when necessary
to deal with day-to-day matters that require the Board'’s
prompt decision, and therefore it is usually that only
executive Directors would attend. Each executive Director
has accumulated sufficient and valuable experience
to hold his/her position in order to ensure that his/her
fiduciary duties can be carried out in an effective and
efficient manner. The Board has established three board
committees,
Committee and Nomination Committee (collectively
the “Board Committees”) for overseeing particular
Company'’s affairs.

namely Audit Committee, Remuneration

The composition and functions of each committee are
described below. These committees have specific functions
and authority to examine issues and report to the Board
with their recommendations (if appropriate) for the
decision of the Board.
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Meeting Records SRR

The number of Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and RAFEAN SEEHFEEEEH £ 8
General Meetings attended by each Director during the  E&ZNMBEARE ZNEEN TE - FEHRA
Year is set out in the following table. Figure in brackets ZHFHEAFEANAEBALTETEETER
indicates maximum number of meetings in the Year in EBXZEgKE (RIBERMT)HABFTETT
which the individual was a Board Member or Committee  Z&ZEZNE -

Member (as the case may be).

Number of meetings attended/held

LE/ EHERAY
Audit Remuneration  Nomination General
Board  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee meetings
Name of Director 3. B2 Ei1EZRE HMZEEE RAZEE RRAE
Executive Director YnEs
Ms. SHUM Kit Lan Anita TR L 8/(8) N/A N/A N/A 1)
TER Tam TER
Non-executive Directors EUTES
Ms. YE Ying ERat 5/(8) N/A N/A N/A 1)
TER Tam TER
Ms. HU Xiaoting BEERt 6/(8) N/A N/A N/A 0/(1)

TR TER TEm

Independent non-executive Directors BUEHTEES

Mr. HUNG Cho Sing EHELE 8/(8) 22) 1(1) 111) 1)
Ms. CHUNG Fai Chun BRYIT 8/(8) 2(2) 1) 111) 0/(1)
Mr. YU Tat Chi Michael RELEE 8/8) 202) 1) 1) 1)

3 2 ANNUAL REPORT 2022 Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited
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Continuous Professional Development of Directors

All Directors, including the INEDs, should keep abreast
of their responsibilities as Directors and the Company's
business and activities. The company secretary continuously
update all Directors on the latest developments regarding
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements
to ensure compliance of the same by all Directors. All
Directors are also encouraged to attend relevant training
courses and seminars that may require keeping abreast
with the latest changes in laws, regulations and the
business environment.

Pursuant to Code provision C.1.4, Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. During the Year, all Directors
have participated in appropriate continuous professional
development activities either by attending training courses
or by reading materials relevant to the Company’s business
or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities. The
Company has received from each Director a confirmation
of their participation in continuous professional
development by attending training course or reading
relevant materials on the topics related to corporate
governance and regulations.
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Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on the Company’s
Nomination Policy and will take into account this
Policy. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to
the Board, having due regard to the benefits of diversity
on the Board and also the needs of the Board without
focusing on a single diversity aspect.

The Board would ensure that appropriate balance of
gender diversity is achieved with reference to stakeholders’
expectation and international and local practices. The
Board also aspires to having an appropriate proportion of
directors who have direct experience in the Group’s core
markets, with different ethnic backgrounds, and reflecting
the Group’s strategy.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five
directors. Three of them are women. Two of the female
directors is non-executive Directors (including INED),
thereby promoting critical review and control of the
management process.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Based on provision Code C.2.1, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
should be clearly established and set out in writing.
The Board’s current significant decisions are made in
Board meetings. Every Board member has the rights
and responsibility to propose Board meetings to discuss
significant issues he/she concerns, and has the power to
make the decisions among other Board members.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees: the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee, with specific responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Company was established
in January 2003. As at the date of this annual report,
the Audit Committee comprises all INEDs, namely
Mr. YU Tat Chi Michael, Mr. HUNG Cho Sing and
Ms. CHUNG Fai Chun. Mr. YU Tat Chi Michael is the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include but are
not limited to the following:

o to consider and review the appointment, resignation
and removal of external auditor and their fees and
supervision on whether any non-auditing services
has been provided by external auditor and giving of
advice to the Board on employment of auditor

o to liaise with the Board and discuss with the external
auditor about issues of significance during the audit
of the Group

o to review the interim and annual results of the
Group
o to review the report from the external auditor in

relation to continuing connected transactions

o to discuss and monitor with management on the
effectiveness of the Company’s financial reporting
system, and risk management and internal control
systems

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee is adopted
on 16 March 2012 and updated on 31 December 2015,
which is consistent with the CG Code and is published
on the website of the Company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties and has access to independent
professional advice if considers necessary.
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Code provision D3.3 of the CG Code stipulates that
members of the Audit Committee should meet at least
twice a year with the Company’s auditor regarding review
of the Group’s financial information including the financial
statements and annual report and half-year report.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, there were
two meetings, included in which two meetings were held
between the Audit Committee and the Company’s auditor
to review and discuss the Company's annual report for the
year ended 31 December 2021 and the interim report for
the six months ended 30 June 2022. The Audit Committee
has reviewed the related results announcements and
reports of the Group and has submitted the same to the
Board for approval. Members of the Audit Committee
were of the opinion that the preparation of such two sets
of financial statements and related results announcements
were in compliance with the applicable accounting
standards, the Listing Rules and legal requirements in
relation to financial reporting. Number of attendance of
the Audit Committee meetings are disclosed under the
section headed “Meeting Records” above.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee of the Company was
established in September 2005 with specific written terms
of reference, which was updated and adopted on 16
March 2012 and 30 December 2022 to comply with the
CG Code. The Remuneration Committee has the delegated
responsibility to determine the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management. The
Remuneration Committee also has the responsibility to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of non-executive Directors. The specific terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee is available on the
website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration
Committee comprises all INEDs, namely Mr. HUNG Cho
Sing, Ms. CHUNG Fai Chun and Mr. YU Tat Chi Michael.
Mr. HUNG Cho Sing is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to discharge its duties. One meeting
was held during the Year to review the remuneration
package of existing Directors. No Director, or any of
his/her associates, and executive is involved in deciding
his/her own remuneration. Number of attendance of the
Remuneration Committee meetings are disclosed under
the section headed “Meeting Records” above.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in March 2012
with terms of reference to deal with the nomination of the
Director, which includes reviewing the structure, size and
composition of the Board and to recommend matters in
relation to appointments or re-appointments of Directors.
This is to ensure that the composition of the Board meets
the requirements of the Listing Rules and that the Board
is capable to fulfill its obligations in terms of fiduciary
duties and can act in the best interest of the members of
the Company. The Nomination Committee is provided with
sufficient resources enabling it to discharge its duties. The
specific terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
is available on the website of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination
Committee comprises all INEDs, namely Mr. HUNG Cho
Sing, Ms. CHUNG Fai Chun and Mr. YU Tat Chi Michael.
Mr. HUNG Cho Sing is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee. One meeting was held during the year ended
31 December 2022 to review the composition of the Board
and rotation of retiring Directors at the annual general
meeting; and to take up the delegated responsibilities
from the Board to review the Board Diversity Policy as
approved by the Board. Number of attendance of the
Nomination Committee meetings are disclosed under the
section headed “Meeting Records” above.
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Nomination Policy

The Board has adopted the following policy for the
nomination of directors (the “Nomination Policy”).

Selection Criteria

In determining the suitability of a candidate, the
Nomination Committee and the Board shall consider the
potential contributions a candidate can bring to the Board
in terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence
and gender diversity. The Nomination Committee and the
Board shall consider the following selection criteria, which
are not meant to be exhaustive:

the candidate’s personal ethics, reputation, character
and integrity;

the candidate’s qualifications, skills, knowledge,
business judgment and experience that are relevant
to the operations of the Group;

the diversity perspectives set out in the Board
Diversity Policy of the Company (as amended from
to time);

the candidate’s availability including time
commitment to discharge his or her responsibility as
a Director, including being able to devote sufficient
time to attend Board meetings, participate in
induction, trainings and other board and Company
associated activities (In the case of a candidate who
will be nominated as an independent non-executive
Director will be holding his or her seventh (or
more) listed company directorship, the Nomination
Committee should consider the reasons given by the
candidate for being able to devote sufficient time to
discharge his or her responsibility as an independent
non-executive Director.);
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o the candidate for the position of an independent

non-executive Director must comply with the
independence criteria as prescribed under the Listing
Rules (as amended from time to time);

° the current size and composition of the Board, the
needs of the Board and the respective committees of
the Company;

o the succession planning of members of the Board
to ensure the leadership continuity and smooth
functioning of the Group; and

o any other factors that the Nomination Committee
and/or the Board may consider appropriate.

The Nomination Committee and the Board shall ensure
that the composition of the Board is in conformity with
the laws of the Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and all
other applicable laws and regulations.

Nomination Procedures

The recruitment, identification, evaluation,
recommendation, nomination, selection and new
appointment or re-appointment of each proposed Director
shall be assessed and considered by the Nomination
Committee and the Board against the Selection Criteria as
set out in this Policy. In the context of appointment of any
proposed candidate to the Board:

o the Nomination Committee may take such measures
that it considers appropriate in connection with
its identification and evaluation of candidates,
including, amongst others, considering referrals from
the Directors, shareholders, management, advisors
of the Company;
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. the Nomination Committee shall identify and e REZBSAHBIBTEREAND
ascertain the character, qualification, knowledge and TQ B HBAK R W IREA
experience of the candidate and undertake adequate ETAIPHNRRBRESLS K&
due diligence in respect of such candidate; and

2, RHEER BIREAN

. the Nomination Committee shall make e REZE
recommendations by submitting the candidate’s EABIT R
personal profile to the Board for its consideration.

In the context of re-appointment of any existing member  HMEHZTAMBEEETSKEMS ' 1RA
of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall make é/\.z./,je“@ % it ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ%
recommendations to the Board for its consideration and  EAZEREAE F2EHER
recommendation for the candidate to stand for re-election

at general meeting.

For each proposed new appointment or re-appointment HMEREZETEENHEZTXNETEZIMS
of a Director, the Nomination Committee shall obtain all RZZESERERSHSEN KL ETHR
applicable declarations and undertaking as required under  BIEU{SFr 7 i A £92 BF FI#GE ©

the laws of the Cayman Islands and the Listing Rules.

In the case of a nomination for the position of an HREBUIFNTESNBRT BEREE
independent non-executive Director, the Nomination  Z@BRERZMABERRBAFAE ETHRBIFTE
Committee shall ensure that the concerned candidate BN AR LE

meets the independence criteria as prescribed under the

Listing Rules.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters ¥HBREARBEASG L28 (REER)
relating to the recommendation of candidates to stand for HFIBEE BEESHARLIRTIHE-
election (and re-election) at a general meeting.

The ultimate responsibility for the selection and &?Ei%ﬂ”)ﬁiv\ﬁﬁi$§
appointment of Directors rests with the entire Board. fé

ﬂﬂH’r

\
/
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

No corporate governance committee has been established
and the Board is responsible for performing corporate
governance functions. This includes developing and
reviewing Company's policies, practices on corporate
governance, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, and the
Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements etc. During the year ended
31 December 2022, the Board has reviewed the Company’s

policies and practices on corporate governance.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group's
system of risk management and internal controls and for
reviewing their effectiveness to safeguard the shareholders’
investment and the assets of the Group. These risk
management and internal control systems are designed to
manage risks rather than eliminate risk of failure to achieve
business objective, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss; and to ensure the reliability of financial information
for both internal use and external publication and to
provide reasonable assurance against material statement
or loss and achievement of the Group’s objective.

Main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

To ensure the efficient and effective operation of the
business and operations, relevant internal control
procedures have been set up for safeguarding assets
against unauthorized use or disposition, controlling
over capital expenditure, maintaining proper accounting
records and ensuring the reliability of financial information
used for business and publication. These procedures are
monitored and reviewed from time to time and updated
where necessary.
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The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification
o Identifies risks that may potentially affect the key
processes of the Group’s business and operations.

Risk Assessment
o Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment
criteria developed by the management; and

o Considers the impact on the business and the
likelihood of their occurrence.

Risk Response
o Prioritizes the risks by comparing the results of the
risk assessment; and

o Determines the risk management strategies and
internal control processes to prevent, avoid or
mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

o Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the
risk and ensures that appropriate internal control
processes are in place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and internal
control processes in case of any significant change

of situation; and

o Report the results of risk monitoring to the
management and the Board regularly.
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The management has carried out periodic review of
the procedures and the implementation of the risk
management and internal control (“"RM and IC") systems,
including areas covered accounting, business and legal
compliance.

The Board has in place an internal audit function within
the Group as required under code provision D.2.5 of the
Corporate Governance Code. To further strengthen the
internal control of the Group, the Company has engaged
an independent professional adviser (the “Internal
Control Adviser”) to perform independent appraisal of
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s RM and IC
systems. The Internal Control Advisor has conducted an
annual review of and made recommendations to improve
the effectiveness of the Group’s RM and IC systems (the
“RM and IC Review").

During the year ended 31 December, 2022, the Audit
Committee, with the assistance of the Internal Control
Adviser, reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s RM and
IC Systems in various aspects including revenue and receipt
cycle, taxation cycle and price sensitive information. The
Internal Control Adviser carried out the RM and IC Review
on the above cycles and executed the RM and IC Review
which involves the following tasks:

1. Conducting interviews with relevant management
and staff members relating to the risk management
and internal controls

2. Conducting walk-through relating to the RM and IC
Review
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3. Reviewing relevant documentation relating to the

RM and IC Review

4. Identifying significant deficiencies in the design of
the risk management and internal controls

5. Communicate the significant findings with the
management so as to confirm the factual accuracy
of the findings

After the RM and IC Review, the management provided an
action plan so as to mitigate those identified deficiencies
in a timely manner. All internal control findings would
be followed up closely to ensure that the action plan is
implemented accordingly.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board
was satisfied that the Group’s RM and IC processes are
adequate to meet the needs of the Group in its current
business environment and that nothing has come to its
attention to cause the Board to believe the Group’s RM
and IC Systems are inadequate. Moreover, the existing
RM and IC Systems are effective and adequate, and will
continue to be reviewed, added on or updated to provide
for changes in the operating environment.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has adopted a policy on disclosure of Inside
Information in respect of procedures and internal control
for the handling and dissemination of inside information
in a timely manner pursuant to Rule 17.19 of the Listing
Rules and the Inside Information Provision under Part XIVA
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
the preparation of the Group's financial statements in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, as well as the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They believe that
such financial statements give a true and fair view of the
Group's affairs and its results. The Directors confirm, to
the best of their knowledge, information and belief, and
having made all reasonable enquiries, that they are not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cause significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The
Board therefore continues to adopt the going concern
approach in preparing the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

The reporting responsibilities of the Directors and the
external auditor of the Company, Elite Partners CPA
Limited, on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 78 to
85.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the financial year ended 31 December 2022, the
fee paid/payable to Elite Partners CPA Limited in respect
of audit and non-audit services were HK$380,000 (2021:
360,000) and HK$nil (2021: HK$nil), respectively.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. ONG King Keung, who is an associate director of an
external service provider, reports to the executive director
of the Company and assists the Board in functioning
effectively and efficiently. He has taken no less than 15
hours of relevant professional training during the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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DIVERSITY

To improve the performance of the Company, the Board
has adopted policies on board diversity. The Board believes
that board diversity can be achieved by taking into account
various factors, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, race, professional
experience, skills, knowledge, term of services and other
talents. All the appointments have been made based on
the Company’'s business models and specific needs from
time to time, and candidates have been assessed with
due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board on
objective business conditions. The nomination committee
will be mainly responsible for identifying suitable and
competent candidates for Board members and assessing
such candidates in light of objective conditions. As a part
of the annual performance review for the efficiency of the
Board, considerations of the nomination committee will
be balanced between skills and experience as required for
accomplishing the business targets of the Company and
diversity factors. To achieve board diversity, the nomination
committee will discuss and develop measurable objectives
from time to time, and propose the same to the Board
for adoption and implementation. Generally speaking,
the selection of candidates by the nomination committee
shall be based on a range of diverse perspectives
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, race, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and term of services. However, the final
decision will depend on the strengths of the candidates
and their prospective contributions to the Board. The Board
may improve one or more diversified perspectives from
time to time, and measure the progress on such basis.
The nomination committee will review the policy from
time to time, including conducting assessments on the
effectiveness of the policy. The nomination committee will
also discuss any amendment that may be necessary, and
submit amendment proposals to the Board for approval.

Please refer to the disclosure in page 73 of this annual
report for the gender ratio of the Company’s employees as
at 31 December 2022.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening Extraordinary General Meeting and
Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings
Pursuant to Article 89 of the articles of association of
the Company, extraordinary general meeting(s) shall be
convened on the written requisition of (i) any two or more
members of the Company; or (ii) any one member of the
Company which is a recognised clearing house (or its
nominee) deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong (Room 1006, 10th Floor, 299QRC, 287-299
Queen’s Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong) or, in the
event the Company ceases to have such a principal office,
the registered office (Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands)
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionist(s), provided that such requisitionist(s) held
as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company, which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company. If the Board does not proceed duly to convene
the meeting within 21 days from the date of deposit of
the requisition, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting
in the same manner, as nearly as possible, in which these
meetings may be convened by the Board provided that
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the date of deposit of
the requisition. All reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director

Pursuant to Article 161 of the articles of association of
the Company, no person other than a Director retiring at
the meeting shall, unless recommended by the Directors
for election, be eligible for election as a Director at any
general meeting, unless a notice is signed by a member
(other than the person to be proposed) who is duly
qualified to attend and vote at the meeting. Such notice
is given with his intention to propose such person for
election as well as a notice signed by the person to be
proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have
been lodged at the head office (Room 1006, 10th Floor,
299QRC, 287-299 Queen’s Road Central, Sheung Wan,
Hong Kong) or at the registration office (Tricor Tengis
Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong). This must be provided at the minimum length
of the period, during which such notice(s) are given, shall
be at least seven days and that the period for lodgment
of such notice(s) shall commence no earlier than the
day after the despatch of the notice of general meeting
appointed for such election and end no later than seven
days prior to the date of such general meeting. Details of
the procedures for nomination of Directors for election are
available on the Company’s website (www.hdca913.com).

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who have enquiries about shareholders’
rights or have enquiries to the Board may write to the
Company Secretary of the Company at the principal place
of business in Hong Kong at Room 1006, 10th Floor,
299QRC, 287-299 Queen’s Road Central, Sheung Wan,
Hong Kong. The Company will not normally deal with
verbal or anonymous enquiries. For the avoidance of
doubt, the shareholder(s) must provide their full name,
contact details and identification in order for the Company
to reply.
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EXE

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Board is well aware of the importance of maintaining
proper contact with shareholders and strives to enhance
its communication with them. Shareholders can visit the
website of the Company (www.hdca913.com) for the
latest information of the Group,
annual reports, announcements, circulars and corporate
governance related policies. Press releases are also posted
on the website of the Company in a timely manner.

including interim and

General meetings serve as a communication channel
between the Board and shareholders. The Group regards
such a meeting as an important activity of the Company
during the year. All Directors and senior management
would attend the meeting as much as they can. The
chairman of the annual general meeting proposes separate
resolutions for each of the independent matters. Members
of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee, external auditors,
independent financial advisers and external lawyers would
also attend the general meeting to answer questions
from shareholders as appropriate. During the year, the
Company held one annual general meeting. Details of
each Director’s attendance at the general meetings are set
out in “Meeting Records” above.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing through the company
secretarial department whose contact details are as
follows:

The Company Secretarial Department,

Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited

Room 1006, 10th Floor, 299 QRC, 287-299 Queen’s Road
Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong
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The Company's shareholders’ communication policy is A2 A Z & FBAKEE T HRT AR
regularly reviewed to ensure its effectiveness. During HABEBM -RAFERN KRR ERFTRE
the year, the Company has reviewed the shareholders’  BFIER WHERBERXEHE-
communication policy and confirmed that it has been

effectively implemented.

Dividend Policy BREBE

According to the dividend policy adopted by the Company,  IRIEAQFRMZZERE EEGRER
in deciding whether to propose a dividend and in TREEMETKRESERAEEENTNA
determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take =:

into account the following factors:

. the Group's future operations and earnings; . REBERKESE RN
. the Group's capital requirements and surplus; . REBENESTRKEAR:
. the general financial conditions of the Group; . AN E BB

. contractual restrictions on payment of dividends; e RIS EBE KRS &
and

8

. any other factors that the Board consider relevant. . EXEERRBANEMNHMEE-
The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company AR FIHKRESTRNMENBEHREETS 2 #
shall be determined at the sole discretion of the Board and ~ BB RE  MABAEBTHEEHE A RVARAR
shall be subject to any restrictions under the Companies — AIRVAE4E S T2 A B o I BB R #8448 T8 T
Law of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association AT - BB NMRE B EE AR E M EZ
of the Company. The dividend policy of the Company  SEIRITMA4FFES RIS

will continue to be reviewed from time to time and there

can be no assurance that dividends will be proposed or

declared in any particular amount for any given period.
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The Board aims to ensure that its shareholders and
investors are well informed of key business imperatives
in a timely and accurate manner. Extensive information
about the Company’s activities was provided in its annual
report, interim report, announcements, and circulars which
are made available on the website of the Stock Exchange
and the Company (www.hdca913.com). Printed copies of
annual report, interim report, circular, notice of meetings
and proxy forms will also be sent to the shareholders of
the Company in a timely manner as required under the
Listing Rules.

Constitutional Documents of the Company

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
has not made any changes to its Memorandum and Articles
of Association of the Company. An updated version of
the Company’'s Amended and Restated Memorandum and
Articles of Association is available on the website of the
Stock Exchange and the Company (www.hdca913.com).
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ABOUT THE GROUP

Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited (the “Company”,
and its subsidiaries collectively referred to as the “Group”)
is an investment company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands whose shares are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited under Chapter 21 of the Listing
Rules since 27 October 1999 and investing in securities
constitutes its ordinary course of business.

The principal activities of the Group are to invest in both
listed and unlisted companies. The Group's current core
portfolio comprises of mainly small to medium sized
listed companies with good asset backing and/or growth
potential. The Group's portfolio covers a wide array
of industries and sectors including, but not limited to,
companies engaged in sectors, such as finance, consumer
goods and services, media, construction, mining, etc.

ABOUT THE REPORT

The Group is pleased to present its Environmental, Social
and Governance (“ESG"”) Report (the "ESG Report”)
for the year ended 31 December 2022. This ESG Report
describes the sustainable development performances,
approaches and measures implemented by the Group.

The information disclosed in this ESG Report covers all
of the operations in Hong Kong during the financial year
ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year”) unless otherwise
stated. Compared with last year, there was no major
change in the reporting scope.

This ESG Report has been prepared according to the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide,
which is the Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the "Stock Exchange”). We followed the four
reporting principles, namely materiality, quantitative,
balance and consistency, throughout the preparation of
this ESG Report.
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1. Materiality: ESG issues that have major impacts on
investors and other stakeholders must be set out in
this ESG Report.

2. Quantitative: If the key performance indicators (KPIs)
have been established, they must be measurable and
applicable to valid comparisons under appropriate
conditions. They must also be able to describe the
purpose and impacts of quantitative information.

3. Balance: This ESG Report must provide an unbiased
picture of the ESG performance of the Company.
It should avoid selecting, omitting, or presenting
formants that may inappropriately influence a
decision or judgement by the reader.

4. Consistency: This ESG Report should use consistent
statistical methodologies to allow meaningful
comparisons of related data over time. Any changes
to the methods used must be specified in the ESG
Report.

Further information about our policies and measures
in corporate governance is available in the “Corporate
Governance Report” section in our Annual Report. We
actively listen to opinions in order to provide stakeholders
with a quality report with useful information. We highly
appreciate feedback, including comments on this ESG
Report or suggestions about our sustainability strategy.
Your feedback is valuable for the Group’s continuous
improvement. Please feel free to offer your comments and
suggestions via email at investors@hdca913.com.
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SUSTAINABILITY GOVERNANCE

The Group acknowledges that sustainability is a significant
factor for our growth in the long term. We have been
dedicated to being a corporate citizen with a sense of
social responsibility and considering sustainability during
the decision-making process and daily operation.

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) has the overall
responsibility for our ESG strategy and reporting,
including evaluating and determining our ESG-related
risks and ensuring that appropriate and effective ESG risk
management and internal control systems are in place.
The Board leads and provides direction to management
by instituting ESG policies and initiatives, supervising their
implementation and monitoring ESG performance.

The management of the Company executes the ESG
strategies and practices determined by the Board, as
well as directly monitors ESG-related risks and internal
controls. Material ESG issues will be discussed and
reviewed during the Board meetings at least once a year
and the compilation of the ESG Report. The management
shall make recommendations to the Board and advise on
risk mitigating actions as appropriate. Specific reduction
targets may also be set if the environmental issues are

material to the Group's operation.

The everyday implementation of the Company's ESG
approach relies on the ESG Working Group. Key
responsibilities include implementing locally-tailored
policies and programmes in support of the Company's ESG
objectives, strategies, priorities, initiatives and goals.

With the assistance of an Internal Control Advisor, the
Audit Committee periodically reviews and assesses our
internal control system to maintain the effectiveness of its
functions. The continuous monitoring and improvement of
risk management and internal control system can enhance
our governance and sustainable development.
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RESPONSIBILITY TO OUR STAKEHOLDERS

The Group is devoted to engaging our stakeholders and
continually enhancing our ability in creating values for
them. We identify key stakeholders according to our
business and operation characteristics. We listen and
respond to their reasonable concerns through various
means of communication, including but not limited to
the annual general meeting and other regular shareholder
meetings, the official website, emails, publications such as
annual reports, interim reports and other announcements
and notices, etc.

The Group has identified the key stakeholders, who affect
our business or who are affected by our business, and
maintain an open and transparent communication platform
in our daily businesses. The Group expects continuous
improvement of our communication system, to proactively
facilitate idea exchange and knowledge sharing. The below
table demonstrated the adopted communication channels
for engaging our stakeholders.

Major Stakeholder Areas of Concern

HiFHENSEE
AEBEORBEIFNE  TNEHEARMS
BFRIEEEMRE - RMRIEES ME S
FROS BRI (0 E - HIfTRBREEAS
AR EENENGERT 258
EEARRBERIAS KNS M E M E MR
AREg BB BB FERE FHRSE
FHRPAREM AT MBES -

REEBDHANZERMEBR R BMER
TENEERHE TERMHBEERBEF
R —EARBERANBBTE ANEEHE
RFESCERMBB RS LUEREE DR
RmEA#HEZ - TRINRABRMPETRD
ES2HEMRBRBRERE

Communication Channels

FEEHHE BT B & BBRE
Stock Exchange e Compliance with listing rules e Announcements on the Stock
Exchange website
e Discussions and meetings as necessary
e Emails and other correspondences
Bt 32 P o FWRAIMER o EEIFTARULH) DD

e
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Major Stakeholder Areas of Concern

Communication Channels

FEROE BE B E BIERE
Government and e Laws and regulations e Site visits and audits

regulatory bodies Fulfilment of tax obligation

BT K 858 o R ARA
s BITMKEE
Shareholders and e Return on investment
investors e Information disclosure
e Protection on rights and
interests of shareholders and
fair treatment of shareholders
REREESE o HEME
o BRI E
-% & [ BRI K i
NEEFRER
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e Regular declarations

e Public notice of new laws and
regulations

e Reports and other publications on
their websites

o HEEREZE

e TEHRW

o A RBROIHNE

o HEHMPUATIEWE RHAM T E R

e Annual and general meetings of
members

e Annual reports, circulars,
announcements and other disclosures/
publications

e Company website/Disclosures on the
Stock Exchange website

e Group email managed by designated
employees

e BMRBFAGMHEMBRGZ

o FR-BEK- A RHAMBEE I
B

o DAL/ BB ML AMHIE

s HEABENEEEH



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

R g LERARE

Major Stakeholder Areas of Concern

Communication Channels

FEHHE BXEE BBERE
Employees e Salaries and welfares e Regular meetings
e Protection of employee’s rights e Employee training
and interests e Intranet and emails
e Health and safety e Regular employee activities
e Feedback opportunities
(== o FrBitE A s FHIEZ
o RiEEBREN MER o EEEII
s BELLZE o ANEAKER
e REMSE e THIEEEH
Community e Environmental protection e \Voluntary activities
e Contribution to the community e Community visits
= o RRRE o ELEH

o HEAz[MOIE

We also treasure the opinions of our valuable employees.
Employees can communicate with management and
provide their feedback directly and transparently. We
consider that views from different stakeholders enable
us in refining our strategies and setting the pace in the
pursuant of sustainability.

The Group is committed to investing in quality assets and
acting in the best long-term interests of our shareholders.
We recognize the value of making sustainable returns
in the long run. The Board is responsible for approving
all investment/divestment decisions and formulating the
Group's overall investment strategies and guidelines in
accordance with the investment objective and policies of
the Group.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

A materiality assessment was performed in order to
identify sustainability topics that are material and relevant
to the Group. To identify potential material topics for
disclosure in the ESG Report, we took reference to the ESG
Reporting Guide and set possible topics for assessment.
Integrating feedback collected and management’s
evaluation, we identified “Quality of Investment”,
“Corporate Governance”, “Anti-corruption” and “Talent
Attraction and Retention” as the material ESG issues to
the Group and its stakeholders. This exercise facilitated us
in aligning our sustainability priorities with stakeholders’
expectations and focusing on the material and relevant
issues.

Aspects Material ESG Issues
B m EKRESGEE

ERMFMA
BPEETEZ MG ABNE A EEE
EABMHBENAREERZE - BHEANRN
ESGIREFHENBEERNZHE HMD2
EESGHMEHRSILRFEREFTRERE 45
BNENRERERLREREE  BAIEE
(EEE] [EEER] IREF] T
SIRBEB AT | BAKBEMRERNENEX
ESG#ERE < i A TIER BN B I Al 58 %
ROEAEHERFNENHERT 20 A
BEREXRKAMZERE

B. Social Aspect
B.AEEE
B1. Employment

B1.EfE

B3. Development and Training

B3. R MIE

B6. Product Responsibility
B6. Em & (£

B7. Anti-corruption

B7. R&E 5

Employee welfare

Inclusion and equal opportunities
Talent attraction and retention
BERAN

BARFEHKSE
AA RS R E

Development and training

TR R

Quiality of investment
REES

Corporate governance
Anti-corruption
PEER

RES
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OUR ENVIRONMENT

Being an investment company, we are also conscious of
our investment decision and the potential impact on the
environment contributed by our investment. When the
investment opportunity arises, we would consider the risk
and return dynamics of the projects as well as the potential
positive and negative environmental effects caused by the
projects.

During the Year,
environmental protection laws and regulations that had

the Group did not violate any

a significant impact on the Group relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes, including but not limited to Air Pollution Control
Ordinance (Cap. 311), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap.
354), Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358) and

Noise Control Ordinance (Cap. 400).

Emissions and Use of Resources

We have no manufacturing plant or company-owned
vehicle and do not produce direct air emissions. Our
environmental impact is mainly due to the consumption
of electricity, water and office supplies and the indirect
greenhouse gas emission generated therefrom. The
electricity supply, water supply and sewage discharge are
under the exclusive control of the owner and the property
manager of the office premises. We are unable to obtain
electricity and water usage data for disclosure purposes.

The daily water consumption is mainly supplied by the
municipal water network, and there is no difficulty
in sourcing water. Due to our business nature as an
investment holding company, our operation does not
involve any significant water and energy consumption.
Therefore, we are not able to set quantitative reduction
targets on energy consumption, water consumption and
thus greenhouse gas emissions.
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Despite that, we adhere to low-carbon operations in an
effort to reduce energy and resource consumption. In the
coming years, we are targeted to raise the employees’
awareness on energy conservation, water conservation and
reduction of greenhouse gas emissions by encouraging
the measures below to minimize our impacts on the
environment.

BE W HPHDBRRHEHGE S - B EIR
RERBFE - RARREE BANEREE
BTN EREUA TR R EE = B T ERE - &0
IKER A B ERBHN T EMEH NEE
BAORPIERIBEOTE -

Maintain the room temperature of the office at an energy-efficient and comfortable level,

i.e. between 24°C and 26°C

MR EERENENEEREFEKY - A124°CE26°C

Maximize the use of natural light and install energy-efficient lighting where practicable

RAREFIFE BRI E AT N LKA

Prioritize the purchase of electrical appliances with energy efficient labels
BAEBETAMERENES

Remind employees to turn off non-essential lighting and office equipment

TeRE(E B RPN B AR M A 5k

Set computers to sleep instead of using screen savers when not in use

BT AR EAERME - MIEERAFRIZRF

Swiftly notify the property management about any dripping or leaking pipes and faucets for
quick maintenance

AR E 8 MK BE SRV AR IRIK - BB EE R R RETRE G E

Waste Management

Since the Group does not produce physical products, no
hazardous waste was generated and no packaging material
has been used. General refuse from our office mainly
consists of paper, aluminium cans and plastic bottles. We
estimate that less than 0.1 tonnes of non-hazardous waste
were generated in our office during the Year, similar to
that of the previous year. The Group targets to increase
the recycling rate of the paper and raise the employee’s
awareness on waste reduction in the coming years.
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The Group also supports waste sorting and recycling. We — ARN&EE TR R0 58 K B4 - 3 AFI#5 7] 78
dispose rechargeable batteries at designated collection EBEXEMWESHNIETWER  »FHHABHK
boxes and segregate used papers, letters and envelopes for R E1F REHETOW - BE REBAKET
recycling. Although the Group has not established a waste S JEEE BiZ - EAEBB IR HAEHKEK
reduction target, the Group aims to increase the paper  BIUWE  WHEEHITE ZREHK BT E K
recycling rate in the office and continue to develop more ~ S£EEERIFEH EEFEH KB LBER
recycling methods for waste paper. The Group advocates  FIF&Y [4R | REI WHEREUA 778 :

the "4R" principles of Reduce, Reuse, Replace and Recycle

with actions as follows:

— Reduce

D fE

e Use double-sided printing and photocopying whenever possible

o Promote “Think Twice Before Copy” in the office to avoid unnecessary printings
. AIREfE A E T EN R4S EN

. E#)ﬁ"ﬂﬁ% [ZBmMED] UG BERITE

sy
=1l

Reuse

BEREA

e Reuse single-sided paper whenever possible

e Reuse pen shafts with ink refills rather than disposing them

e Encourage staff to reuse stationery, e.g. used envelop and document folder
o RUBERMEAEEMAR

e WAEBUREECAER MITEARERER

e FEETIEEMANE  HINEHABNEHRIHR

Replace

R

e Encourage the use of electronic communication means, e.g. emails and soft copies instead of
letters or fax

e \Whenever possible, adopt virtual meeting and teleconferencing instead of business travel to cut
unnecessary trips and the greenhouse gas emission therefrom

e FEEAEFEALN  HINEHREFR  MAFEHREER

e RURKAEHRSEREFZENBLE LS THENHTRAREENREREIHN

I

e Except papers containing confidential information, all waste paper is sent to paper mills
or scrap paper collectors

e Send printer cartridges to producer for recycling

e Make sure that the recyclables collected are collected by professional recyclers for proper
recycling

o MRESHEERNEERN  FIEEREATEAMSERRERE

o ITHMBSXRTEERETE

o FRRPIWEM AT E W HAEIKEKRE @ WMEZERERNA
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The Group believes we have reduced our emissions
and conserved resources through these actions. We
will continue to identify opportunities to improve our
environmental performance.

Use of Packaging Material

Given our business nature, the Group does not have
manufacturing facilities and does not consume a significant
amount of packaging materials.

The Environment and Natural Resources

As our operation is office-based, we do not induce a
substantial negative impact on the environment. The
Group strictly complies with applicable environmental laws
and regulations, such as the Waste Disposal Ordinance
(Cap. 354), and is committed to promoting a green office.
We adopt environmentally friendly measures so as to
achieve green operation. The Group recognizes that the
emission of greenhouse gases is one of the factors leading
to climate change. Although there are no industrial or
commercial processes in the daily operation, the Group will
still promote a green lifestyle among the employees and
strive to reduce the use of energy and other resources. The
Group will do its part to reduce emissions while ensuring
that it continues to grow and prosper.

Climate Change

The Group recognizes that climate change is a global
challenge and may affect the communities and business
operation in a negative way. Since the Group does not
have any manufacturing plant or supply chain, our major
operations will not be materially impacted by climate-
related issues.
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Nevertheless, the acute physical risks may still pose danger
to our employees. Extreme weather conditions, such as
typhoons, heavy rains, heat waves and storms, will be
intensified and more frequent. To safeguard the safety
of the employee during extreme weather conditions,
the Group sets its internal guideline on adverse weather
arrangements in times of typhoons, rainstorms and
extreme conditions after super typhoons. The Group would
stay alert to any announcements by the local governments
on weather conditions and prepare for emergency actions.

Besides, transition risks due to policy and regulatory
change may lead to the devaluation of the portfolio held
by the Company. These potentially stranded assets may
lead to unpredicted fluctuation in the Group’s value.
Therefore, climate-related issues and trends are considered
when making significant business and investment decisions
after weighing their costs and benefits. For example,
climate risks should be considered before adding the
new investment choice to the Group’s portfolio. The
Group will consider developing guidance for climate risk
identification, mitigation and adaptation to help the
portfolio to build resilience to these potential climate
events.

OUR PEOPLE

We rely on our talented employees to provide outstanding
investment services with professional and informed
decisions. We value the contributions of our staff to the
operation and sustainable development of our business.
We understand the importance of attracting, developing
and retaining talents by providing them with an excellent
working environment and achieving mutual success
together with the Group.

Employment and Labour Standard

We protect the legitimate rights and benefits of employees
and strictly comply with the Employment Ordinance (Cap.
57), the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282),
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap.
485), the Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608) and other
relevant laws and regulations on employment and labour
standards.
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S 1 R SRAR R B B BB ISR - R IE
BEEEBBRFMA THLE  AEE D
ERGHE - %Fﬁ&ﬁf@ﬁ%ﬂ?ﬁﬂ’]ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ?’ﬁ
iﬁ?%ﬁﬁ%?ﬂ”ﬁq*lﬁa%l RE B EZ )

EHBAEERRANERNAE 3 ﬁﬁl
ﬁ?%%ﬂ%ﬁﬂ’]ﬁﬁ

BEAN - RERER & BB B R A EIR AR

REEHARAMFREMARE - %FE E
SYEBEEFNESYAKEEELRELR
BBV R E) - Rt EAFH EARRH RIER
R AEBESEHEMRA MY K RIRE
FARE L BB MAZREE- FI ALK
BIRBEASMERERENSEERKE
g2 o AN 52 (835 & 8 il TE SR (6K L B v ) Ol R
KBRS WEBIREHSERRYZE
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Talent Attraction and Retention

We offer competitive remuneration, promotion
opportunity, compensation and benefit packages to
attract and retain talents. Our remuneration package
comprises with basic salary, MPF, five-day working week,
medical insurance and share option scheme. The package
is determined with reference to the qualifications,
performance and work experience of the individual as
well as the market rates. We have specified standard
working hours, holidays and rest periods,
and welfare, compensation and dismissal in employment
contracts. Employees are provided with sick and injury
leaves, maternity and paternity leaves and other
entitlements according to the laws of Hong Kong.

remuneration

The Group is committed to supporting and developing its
staff to enable them to carry out their work effectively and
fulfill their potential. Staff appraisals will be conducted
in comfortable surroundings and free from interruptions
annually to encourage an honest exchange of views.
Remuneration packages are reviewed periodically based on
our operating results, individual performance and market
information. Employees may be promoted on basis of their
performance in the current jobs and the extent to which
they demonstrate the attributes required for the higher
grade.

Meanwhile, any appointment, promotion or termination of
the employment contract would be based on reasonable,
lawful grounds and internal policies, such as the staff
handbook. The Group strictly prohibits any kind of unfair
or unreasonable dismissals.
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Equal Opportunities

The Group adheres to the principles of fairness and
mutual respect. We comply with, in all material respects,
the following ordinances and the relevant codes of
practice issued by the Equal Opportunities Commission
of Hong Kong: Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Cap.
480), Disability Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 487),
Family Status Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 527), and
Race Discrimination Ordinance (Cap. 602). We treat all
employees and candidates equally and avoid any forms
of discrimination,
pregnancy, disability, religion and ethnicity, in recruitment,
remuneration and promotion.

including age, gender, marital status,

Anti-child and Forced Labour

The Group does not tolerate any child or forced labour.
We ensure all new joiners meet the minimum age for
legal employment through the recruitment process. To
combat against illegal employment of child and forced
labour, the Group’s human resources department requires
job applicants to provide valid identity documents before
confirmation of employment to ensure that the applicants
are lawfully employable. All the personal information
provided during recruitment should be real and effective.
If there is any mendacious information, the Group will
terminate the employment according to relevant laws and
regulations. The Human Resources Department of the
Group is responsible to monitor and ensure compliance
with the latest relevant laws and regulations that prohibit
child labour and forced labour.
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The Group has not identified any significant non-
compliance with laws and regulations relating to
employment, recruitment and dismissal, equal
opportunities or other issues regarding labour standards
during the Year. As at the end of the Year, the total
number of employees was 15. The charts below
demonstrated the breakdown of the employees by gender,
age group, employee category and geographical region.

RAFEER AEBEYEZRIABREER
HER HRELER FTEREIEMEH
S TRRARBEAEARLERNER -RNAF
ER EEHEBRISA TEBRRRIER
FicAaR - REER KRS HE 8RR -

Number of Employee By Gender Number of Employee By Age Group
BUBBSNES AR

BERARBIHEEAR

B Female ® Male
Z Bl

Number of Employee By
Employee Category
RESEREINEEAH

B Managerial M Senior M Middle Junior
EIBE =R PR AR
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Health and Safety

The Group undertakes to safeguard the health and safety
of its employees and expects all employees to strictly
observe the Company’s health & safety policies. As an
investment company, all our staff work in offices and
are not exposed to significant health and safety risks.
Nevertheless, potential injury hazards from slips, trips and
falls for staff remain. In order to prevent work-related
injuries and ensure the well-being of our employees, the
following measures have been implemented:

Strictly prohibit smoking in office to safeguard indoor air quality

BERIEZRE  LRBEANEZREE

RERZZ
rEEAERELRENREREZZ W
PrREEBRRETARAMNEEREL R
HE-ER—RKRERR HAMAEILY
ERAETHE TEmEREARELRLZEZR
(o AT - ADRTFHEA BB 48 F) 2 2k 3)
HBEGBEER BB LTERERESN
FBAL - BAIE BREA T8 36 -

Ensure adequate ventilation and suitable lighting for efficient daily operations

BEZENERREENRE - URERSMRNABET

Provide adjustable office chairs and computer monitors to facilitate good posture and reduce eye strain

RETABOM AR R EME RS

BARIR R 47 Y22 R B AR B IR 55

Keep common areas of the office, such as corridors and pantry, hygienic and tidy

RERAZENAERSE  fINERRIKENEERER

Provide occupational health guidelines for staff to raise their awareness

RETRHEBRERES - ESHSHNER

Regularly clean the air conditioning equipment
EHERERRE

Prepared a first-aid kit in the office in case of emergency
ERLEEBSHEUBESER

In response to the coronavirus pandemic, we have
introduced precautions to safeguard the health of our
staff:

o closely monitor the news and updates of the
event of coronavirus and adjust the operations of
employees accordingly if required;

AR TEMRRE AT BAIRERTE FE e
LAREE B THVREER

. YIS RTEINA S F R B K&
HE - WERERBEBAZESN
AR
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o prepare virus prevention materials including surgical
masks and disinfection supplies for the office and
employees;

o provide hand sanitizers for employees and visitors;

o measure body temperature before entering the
office;

o require staff to wear face masks in the office;

o reduce face-to-face communications; and

o home office arrangement is adopted and

continuously reviewed to lower the risk of infection

The Group strictly abides by the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance (Cap. 509) or other relevant laws and
regulations on health and safety. During the past three
years, including the Year, no cases in relation to work
injuries or fatalities were recorded. We were not aware
of any significant non-compliance with the applicable
regulations on occupational health and safety during the
Year.

Development and Training

We recognize the importance of staff training and
development for the mutual growth of both the Group
and our employees. We encourage the continuing
education of our directors and employees to further
enhance their skills, acquire professional knowledge and
keep abreast of the latest developments in the industry,
through participation in training organized by professional
bodies. The company secretary provides regular briefings
to the directors to ensure they understand the updates on
statutory and regulatory requirements and are fully aware
of their roles and responsibilities. During the Year, 53%
of our employees received training arranged by the Group
and the average training hour was 0.5 hour per employee.
For detailed breakdown of the trained employee and the
average training hours by gender, employee category and
function, please refer to the “Summary of Key Performance
Indicators” section.
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Number of Trained Employee
By Gender
RUBBSNZINEEAR

Number of Trained Employee

By Employee Category

BRESENEINZIEEAR

M Female M Male W Managerial M Senior W Middle Junior
egid S EIRE =k AR AR
OUR SOCIETY He
Supply Chain Management s

The Group’s suppliers mainly include securities brokers,
professional service providers for legal, advisory and other
services, as well as various suppliers for office equipment
and hardware. Our supply chain is simple and the
environmental and social risk involved is relatively low. As
the Group is principally engaged in investment, the Group
did not have major suppliers in the Year and will ensure
the suppliers in the future will not have non-compliance
incidents or notable adverse impacts on business ethics,
environmental protection, human rights and labour
practices.

We consider qualifications, compliance, business scale
and reputation when choosing suppliers. Our suppliers
are expected to comply with national and local laws and
regulations relating to business conduct, environmental
protection and other business practices. If a supplier is
found in non-compliance with our policies or contractual
provisions, we will suspend the business relationship until
the irregularity has been rectified.
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Product Responsibility

Quality of Investment

Our investment team is responsible for, inter alia,
identifying, reviewing and evaluating suitable investment
or divestment opportunities, assisting the Board in the
execution of investment and divestment decisions and
monitoring the investments of the Group. When a
potential investment opportunity arises, our investment
team will evaluate it thoroughly and critically in order
to reduce investment risks and protect the interests of
shareholders. In making investment decisions, we adopt a
responsible and prudent approach to balance profitability
and risk.

Protection of Data Privacy

We protect the information security of our stakeholders,
including business partners, employees and identified
individuals. The contents of privacy matters are confidential
and access thereto is restricted to the provisions of the
Privacy Ordinance. We established various measures to
ensure effective data privacy. To safeguard our information
assets and prevent data leakage, we require our employees
to handle sensitive or confidential information cautiously.
The usage of data is strictly bound to the purposes in
accordance with relevant contract terms.

Employees are not allowed to disclose, exploit or use
directly or indirectly confidential information regarding
the Group to which they have access as a result of their
employment. Failure to observe this rule may lead to
summary dismissal without compensation by the Group.
The Group was not aware of any material non-compliance
with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Cap. 486) or
any other applicable laws or regulatory requirements on
data privacy during the Year.
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Intellectual Property Rights

The Group will provide licensed software for use by its
employees in performing their duties. Employees are
strictly forbidden from installing and using illegal software
on the computers owned by the Group.

As the Group is principally engaged in investment, the
Group believes that health and safety, advertising and
labelling matters relating to products and services provided
are irrelevant to our business. Therefore, no disclosure
about policies of these issues is made in this ESG Report.

Anti-Corruption

We believe integrity and honesty are fundamental in our
business. The Group prohibits any form of corruption, such
as bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering. We
will not hesitate to take disciplinary actions in case of any
substantiated misconduct.

In order to promote sound and effective corporate
governance, the Group established the internal “Conflict
of Interest Policy” to set out the Code of Conduct and
procedures during handling potential conflict of interest.
The Group strictly prohibits anyone from offering, soliciting
or accepting bribes or participating in any solicitation,
acceptance, payment or offer of a bribe or kickback.
Any employee doing so commits an offence under the
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201).
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Employees are required to report to management through
their department manager or the Human Resources
Department of incidents or suspected cases of corruption,
theft, fraud and embezzlement. The internal “Whistle-
blowing Policy” provides formal communication channels
for employees and any other persons to raise or report
any concerns relating to Malpractices that may have been
committed by the Group or its employees in the capacity
of employees of the Group. All matters raised by the
whistle-blower will be kept strictly confidential. The Group
has established the Audit Committee (“AC") to specifically
attend to any concerns on Malpractice within or relating
to the Group. Management will make an investigation and
report to the police or ICAC if appropriate.

To strengthen the culture of integrity and consistently
incorporate anti-corruption in its governance at all business
levels, the Group provides a session of anti-corruption
training with a total of 8 training hours to our Directors
and employee, which included training on the updates of
the anti-corruption and anti-bribery laws and regulations,
as well as case studies of past violations in which emphasis
was placed on how to properly handle potential and
materialized violations. 100% of the Directors and 13% of
the employees attended the anti-corruption training during
the Year.

We strictly abide by relevant laws and regulations including
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201). No legal
cases or material non-compliance with the laws and
regulations relating to corruption were brought against the
Group or its employees during the Year.

Community Investment

The Group strives to be a responsible corporate citizen and
cares about the development of the community where we
operate. We encourage our staff to actively participate in
social welfare activities and volunteering services or make
donations to charitable organizations.
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SUMMARY OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

AREERE

Social Aspects’ 2022 2021  Unit
tEEHE —B--F - —F EBEf
Aspect B1: Employment
EEB1: {EfE
B1.1 Total workforce
ETAH
Total number of employees 15 15  employee
BB HE ==
By gender Female 8 8 employee
g Rl F o) e ==
Male 7 7  employee
5t ==
By employment type Full-time 8 8 employee
RERERNE D a1 ==
Part-time 7 7  employee
By age group 30 years old or below 0 0 employee
RERARNE D 30BRHIA T (==
31-40 years old 4 4 employee
31-405% {=3=]
41-50 years old 6 6 employee
41-50%% BE
Over 50 years old 5 5 employee
505% A £ {=3=]
By employee category Management 6 6 employee
RESERMNED EIEE (==
Senior 1 1 employee
= R (==
Middle 7 7 employee
H R (==
Junior 1 1 employee
MR EE8

The calculation of the social KPIs are based on

“"How to

prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 3: Reporting Guidance
on Social KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.
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Social Aspects’ 2022 2021 Unit
HtEEE B T —F Bf
By function Executive 6 6 employee
BB E o AT (=]
Technical 2 2 employee
Al ==1
Production 7 7 employee
B in ==
By geographical region Hong Kong 9 9 employee
el ) o (=]
China 6 6 employee
B (==
B1.2 Employee turnover rate
EBERKE
Total employee turnover rate 0% 0% %

REARAR

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EEB2  REREZ2

B2.1 Number of work-related fatalities 0 0 no.
TTHHAE N
Rate of work-related fatalities 0% 0% %
B T i Ay b &

B2.2 Lost days due to work injury 0 0 day
TEERXITEBE X
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Social Aspects'’ 2022 2021  Unit
HtEEE e T —F Ef

Aspect B3: Development and Training

[EEB3 : # /R Rl

B3.1 Percentage of trained employees
TIEEBS K

Total number of trained employees 8 8 employee
XillfE B2 (=]
Percentage of total employees trained 53.3% 533% %
XilllEERHBE DL
By gender Female 62.5% 62.5% %
gl Fo) el
Male 37.5% 37.5% %
B
By employee category Managerial 75.0% 75.0% %
REBERMNE D ERE
Senior 12.5% 12.5% %
= R
Middle 0% 0% %
AR
Junior 12.5% 12.5% %
N
By function Executive 75.0% 75.0% %
BB E o AT
Technical 25.0% 250% %
Rl
Production 0.0% 0% %
7EE o
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Social Aspects'’ 2022 2021  Unit
HtEEE e T —F Ef
B3.2 Average training hours completed
7e R 32 Al Y 15 R B
Average training hours per employee 0.5 1.1 hour/employee
BREBMN TR N EE
By gender Female 0.6 1.3 hour/employee
gl o) e ANV
Male 0.4 0.9 hour/employee
B N EE
By employee category Managerial 1.0 2.0 hour/employee
REBERMNE D ERE N EE
Senior 1.0 2.0 hour/employee
= AR N EE
Middle 0 0 hour/employee
AR N EE
Junior 1.0 2.0 hour/employee
AR N EE
By function Executive 1.0 2.0 hour/employee
R E D AT AN
Technical 1.0 2.0 hour/employee
B i AN
Production 0 0 hour/employee
PE fih ANV
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
EMEBS : ftERER
B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region
RGBS SN HERHE
Total number of suppliers 0 8 supplier
HIEE 2 R
By geographical region Hong Kong 0 8 supplier
1z i = &8 5 s R
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
R -tEgkEAWmE

Social Aspects'’ 2022 2021 Unit
HEEE ZEBEZZF T —F B

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[EEB7 : RES

B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding 0 0 case
corruption
EERANESHARGHE (53
B7.3 Anti-corruption training
RE 553
Number of anti-corruption training sessions 1 - no.
REFFIRE N
Total number of training hours related to anti- 8.0 - hour
corruption
[ &5 18 B8 #9315 71l 48 B B N
Percentage of employees Directors 100% - %
with anti-corruption s
training General employees 13% - %
2NREFHEINES —&EE
Aot
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Independent Auditor’s Report
Y& N7 1% 1AM

elite
partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the Members of
Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out
on pages 86 to 167, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022,
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“"HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

7 8 ANNUAL REPORT 2022 Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited
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Independent Auditor’s Report
ARV 3 TR =S

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the “Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”),
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

and we have fulfilled our

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matter

Expected credit loss allowance for debt investment
measured at amortised cost (“debt investment”) and
other receivables

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has debt investment
and other receivables of approximately HK$17,100,000
and HK$42,636,000 respectively. The other receivables
representing the consideration receivables arising from the
disposal of unlisted equity investments.

ERE%E

ARBME RS RN ARESG S
BRECER ([BBRBER ) ETERT
Yo A MET A A RIE T 2 & AR
s oh IR BET SR IR & B I SRR A HE A
B —Gg— SHR - RIEEBREHEA
eEAG T BE AT EETA ((F])
AR BTN HEE LD IRETE
T AT AR T - AT AR 1S AR
MRS B REREHERERH S
BrohE-

FAREFXEE
FRERERRRBAZEEN N F R A
RAREAHBGAVBRERNERRRE
ZHNFER ZEZTHEEAZHENEZER
REMBHRER LB ARZHENNE REE
TTRIEN  AAZBMT e Y% FEREHR
BEHENER-

BEEXER
BBEXF N BZEERE ([EHERE])
RAMEBERFEZBREEBRZE

RZEBE-_—_F+-_A=+—H &E&£H
ZEBERENEMERIED BIK ABE

17,100,0007T X% 7 #542,636,0007T ° £ 1th fE
WHRIBIEHEELITRAKREELEZEIK
RE-
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Independent Auditor’s Report
ARV 3 TR =S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter (Continued)

Expected credit loss allowance for debt investment
and other receivables (Continued)

The management measures expected credit loss (“ECL")
by taking into account the ageing of debt investment and
other receivables, the repayments of counterparties of
different risk characteristics, current market conditions,
counterparty-specific conditions, and the Group’s view of
economic conditions over the expected lives of the debt
investment and other receivables.

We identified ECL allowance for debt investment and other
receivables as a key audit matter because determining the
level of ECL allowance requires the exercise of significant
management judgement.

How the matter was addressed in our audit:
Our procedures to assess the ECL allowance for debt
investment and other receivables include:

Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
independence of the Group's external valuer;

o Obtaining an understanding of the process in
relation to estimating the ECL allowance for the
debt investment and other receivables;

o Assessing the appropriateness of the key parameters
and assumptions that management uses in its
implementation of the ECL model; and

o Checking the mathematical accuracy of management’s
calculation of ECL allowance.

8 0 ANNUAL REPORT 2022 Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included
in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Hth & #

EEAVHMENAR HiERNBRFR
P8 ER T BREE M ERE R AZH
Bl A L 3% h O AR BRE R
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R EE R -

WEZGAMBHREAME  AZBENEE
EHEEMER REWBES  ZEEM
EHRERGAVBRRIARBMESE
ZBER AT T A BERBEANR &L
FHEBARBRRM - ER A ZEEEHITH
TR IRAZHBER S EMERN B EKRE
MR AZBEFEEREEBEE UL
MmE AMBEERREEMEER-
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EXRARBALSTHASRMANER
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with
a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguard applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Ms. Chow Ka Li with
Practising Certificate number P07809.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

10/F., 8 Observatory Road
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon
Hong Kong

31 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
HV\ EJ f%:ﬁﬁjuﬁz i%i

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Wit BETT BETT
Gross proceeds from disposal HEXZHHFZEBRELE
of trading securities 5,983 14,190
(Loss)/gain from sale of HEEBBERROABEIE
listed equity investments ([BRBREAAE
at fair value through profit IR 2ETREREZ
or loss (“FVPL") (B8 (47,047) 3,030
Revenue Yz 4 1,723 361
Other income H A 4 72 -
Changes in fair value of listed BRBRERAABIERL
equity investments at FVPL FTARAKREZ AR ER 29,875 8,951
Changes in fair value of unlisted BEBEZFZAALEIEZ
equity investments at FVPL FETRAREZAREED - (23,092)
Impairment losses under expected FEHIEEEEER T 2 HEEE
credit loss model, net of reversal 1Bk B @ 7 (11,983) (3,659)
Operating expenses KERX (16,720) (8,216)
Finance costs BE AR 6 - (19)
Loss before tax BR 5 Al 5 18 6 (44,080) (22,644)
Income tax BiREY 8 - -
Loss and total comprehensive ZARQAFEHEZFE AL
loss for the year attributable FRABERZEABELE
to equity holders of the
Company (44,080) (22,644)
HK$ HK$
B ok
Loss per share — Basic and diluted SREE-EAREE (0.16) (0.09)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R B IR IR
As at 31 December 2022
R-ZFE-Z—F+-H=+—H

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B et BT T BT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Equity investments at fair value BRBHBANE
through profit or loss S8R 2 RN & 12 - 58,500
Debt investment measured REBHEKATEZ
at amortised cost BERIRE 14 17,100 -
17,100 58,500
Current assets RBEE
Equity investments at fair value through BEREREANE
profit or loss B BR 2 AL & 12 118,858 136,623
Deposits and prepayments Be RBERARK 72 282
Due from securities brokers JIE Uy 38 %5 4% 42 SRR 15 400 2,234
Other receivables H b & W5k I8 6 42,636 19,460
Bank balances and cash RITHEFRE S 17 7,424 621
169,390 159,220
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals HENTRETER 18 1,402 670
Due to securities brokers BREBEFERLRZIE 19 1 1
1,403 671
Net current assets RBEEEE 167,987 158,549
Total assets less current liabilities EEHERRBERS 185,087 217,049
NET ASSETS EEFE 185,087 217,049

BEHFTEXEAAR LT 2022 £5% 87



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

R B IR IR
As at 31 December 2022
R-ZFE-Z—F+-H=+—H

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
ok BET R BETT

Capital and reserves BRAR %
Share capital L& 20 281 276
Reserves i 184,806 216,773
TOTAL EQUITY BmER 185,087 217,049
HK$ HK$
B ks
Net asset value per share BREEFE 22 0.66 0.79
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of BER&HEEFEN T -_=F=A=+—8H

Directors on 31 March 2023.

YE Ying
EH

Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

=IZAN AN = R
maEREemEWRK
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

2022 2021
—E2-= —EZ—4F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B it BT T BEETT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES BREERK
Cash generated from/(used in) EEMS (FTA)
operations Re 25 5,006 (7,463)
Dividends received FriS A% & 799 361
Interest paid =ENEUES) - (19)
Net cash generated from/(used in) REEEKFT,
operating activities (FrA)BESFHE 5,805 (7,121)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES METH
Proceeds from placement of shares Ao & IR 10 FT 1S K318 - 5,722
Proceeds from exercise of share options 77 {& 88 A% 4% A 15 0B 998 1,284
Net cash generated from RMETE B
financing activities REFEE 998 7,006
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and RERBRELZEY 2
cash equivalents #wm ORd) FE 6,803 (115)
Cash and cash equivalents at FHUzREeRBEELE
beginning of year BY 621 736
Cash and cash equivalents RERZREEREAS
at end of year represented ZEY(2HEBE
by bank balances and cash THERRE) 7,424 621

% B
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
/\\/ N HX%TH_/\/\ 454 @J 2%

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE T —FF _H=1—HItFE
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
ANREEEEAEMN
Share
Share Share  Contributed options  Accumulated Total
capital premium Surplus reserve losses reserve Total
B A& R EE BARSR  BRERH 25tEE RS &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT BT BT BT
At 1 January 2022 i

—HA—A 276 1,064,393 186,046 4,078 (1,037,744) 216,773 217,049

Loss and total comprehensive loss ~ F£REER

for the year 2EABREE - - - - (44,080) (44,080) (44,080)
Contributions and distributions RERDE
Issue of shares upon exercise of RARERER

share options BT AD 5 1,421 - (428) - 993 998
Grant of share options R BRE - - - 11,120 - 11,120 11,120
Total transactions with owners HEFARSEE 5 1,421 - 10,692 - 12,113 12,118
At 31 December 2022 RZIBZZH

+=A=+-H 281 1,065,814 186,046 14,770 (1,081,824) 184,806 185,087

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

KAREERE ARG
Share

Share Share Contributed options  Accumulated Total
capital premium Surplus reserve losses reserve Total
A ROEE GAR®  BRERE ZitEE [EEAE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETFT BETT EETFT EETT EETFT

At 1 January 2021 RZTZ—F

—A—H 223 1,056,868 186,046 1,871 (1,015,515) 229,270 229,493

Loss and total comprehensive loss ~ £REER

for the year 2EBREE - - - - (22,644) (22,644) (22,644)
Contributions and distributions RERDE
Issue of shares upon exercise of R ERER

share options BT 8 1,848 - (572) - 1,276 1,284
Issue of new shares under placing RIEREBITHRG 45 5,677 - - - 5,677 5,722
Grant of share options R RE - - - 3,194 - 3,194 3,194
Lapse of share options BB - - - (415) 415 - -
Total transactions with owners BREBEARFHBE 53 7,525 - 2,207 415 10,147 10,200
At 31 December 2021 R-B=--%

+=ZA=+- 276 1,064,393 186,046 4,078 (1,037,744) 216,773 217,049
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

The registered office of the Company is located at
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal
place of business of the Company is located at
Room 1006, 10th Floor, 299QRC, 287-299 Queen’s
Road Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong.

The principal activities of the Group are engaged in
the investment in listed and unlisted financial assets.
Details of principal subsidiaries are set out in note
10 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"), which
collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“"HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements also comply
with applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a basis consistent with the accounting
policies adopted in the 2021 consolidated financial
statements except for the adoption of the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs that are relevant to
the Group and effective from the current year.
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Notes to the Conso
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Adoption of Amendments to HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2022 for the preparation of the

idated Financial Statements
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consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30
June 2021

Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract

Annual Improvements to
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RERZH 2
iR

RESN-E8H
BR

HKFRSs 2018-2020

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in
the current year has had no material impact on the
Group's financial positions and performance for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements is historical
cost except for financial assets at FVPL which
are measured at fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of measurement (Continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 16, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair
value, such as value in use in HKAS 36 /Impairment
of Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair
value and a valuation technique that unobservable
inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of
the valuation technique equals the transaction price.
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Notes to the Conso
A IR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of measurement (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level 1,
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise
the financial statements of the Company and all of
its subsidiaries as at 31 December each year. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting year as that of the Company
using consistent accounting policies.

All intra-group balances, transactions, income and
expenses and profits and losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in full. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the
Group. The Group controls an entity when it is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the elements of
control.

In the Company's statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses. The carrying amount of the
investments is reduced to its recoverable amount
on an individual basis, if it is higher than the
recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable.

Financial instruments

Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when
the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments and on a trade date
basis.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Conso
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing
for the proceeds received.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
and continues to control the transferred asset, the
Group recognises the financial asset to the extent of
its continuing involvement and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay.

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets are initially recognised at their
fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not
carried at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as
(i) measured at amortised cost; (ii) debt investment
measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“Mandatory FVOCI"); (iii) equity investment
measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (“Designated FVOCI"); or (iv) measured at
FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the financial
asset's contractual cash flow characteristics. Financial
assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial
recognition unless the Group changes its business
model for managing them, in which case all affected
financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the
first annual reporting period following the change in
the business model (the “reclassification date”).

O 6 ANNUAL REPORT 2022 Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited

idated Financial Statements

FEFSHBER (&)

SRMIAE(£F)

SHEE (&)
RIFERLBEE ()
HASEBRBAEECHEERGE
ZBAE D EL K O3RNt E 4 B
HREMEEY O IBEMSHIBE
RIEIRE R -

A SRE EERNRE R AR B
R BB [ B Ko [0 3 - N A A 4% 1 AT 82
FEE AAEBUEFSE2ERER
RREREMEERE A BEAXNE
FAARE TR

EHMEEDERAKE

TRMEEVFRAAERR MHE
BMEENIFEBERBAABIIK
At WEeREERERRGEZRS
DN

RERERR SREENERN)IZ
BRI (VEBEMEEKE
BAREIRZEBRE ([RH1E
FPEMEmMEREAAETIK])
(i) EW\EMEEERERAAETIER
ZBERARE ([EEEBEMEEE
@B AREIR]) (v)BiBEE
BBy R

TREEN B RER 20 BEURKA
SEEECREECEBEARESR
BEANRSAEFBME -2RE
ERNEBRERRITEFR IR
SRIEARBNEREETERBRA M
EUHBRATHEXZEZEREER
EBEAEHREEFERSHMELZ
BERE(IEH2BBEHDETEHD

e



Notes to the Conso
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and measurement (Continued)

1)

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost
if it meets both of the following conditions
and is not designated as at FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows;
and

(i) its contractual terms give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective
interest rate method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses arising from
impairment, derecognition or through the
amortisation process are recognised in profit
or loss.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised
cost include debt investment measured at
amortised cost, deposits, due from securities
brokers, other receivables and bank balances
and cash.

idated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. FEEHBE(E)
Financial instruments (Continued) SRMIA (&)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)
2)  Mandatory FVOCI 2) BB BRMEENEIE AN
T 1ESRR

A financial asset is measured at Mandatory EoREERFME A TEE

FVOCI if both of the following conditions are B EBIEERASZRBIEBEREAR

met and is not designated as at FVPL: B AlZze Rt & ERR

MEREMEENREAAE
k%

(i) the financial asset is held within a (i) ZEeRMEEDREED
business model whose objective is ERKBREHNRESRE
achieved by both selling and collecting CEBEAAMBIEE:
contractual cash flows; and 54

(i)  the contractual terms give rise on (i) BHBKRERFEAR
specified dates to cash flows that are EEREREER/ZN
solely payments of principal and interest e MAREEREFE -

on the principal amount outstanding.

The financial asset is subsequently measured PREEEBEARBEE
at fair value. Interest calculated using the FERERMEEFEZNE
effective interest method, impairment gains B U 55 88 18 DA B SINEE Lk 2
or losses and foreign exchange gains and NS B R o KU &
losses are recognised in profit or loss. Other HEEREMEENRERE
gains or losses are recognised in other EHMEERIER ETR
comprehensive income until the financial asset BEKIEERE BEREM
is derecognised. When the financial asset is ZEWRERZ R E S
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss BENHOEEBRREREND
previously recognised in other comprehensive LEEEE

income is reclassified to profit or loss as a
reclassification adjustment.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

3)

4)

Designated FVOCI

Upon initial recognition, the Group may make
an irrevocable election to present subsequent
changes in the fair value of an investment
in an equity instrument that is neither held
for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies in
other comprehensive income. The classification
is determined on an instrument-by-instrument
basis.

These equity investments are subsequently
measured at fair value and are not subject to
impairment. Dividends are recognised in profit
or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment.
Other gains or losses are recognised in other
comprehensive income and shall not be
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets that
are not measured at amortised cost or FVOC],
including financial assets held for trading,
financial assets designated upon initial
recognition as at FVPL, and financial assets
resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 applies. They are carried at
fair value, with any resultant gain and loss
recognised in profit or loss, which does not
include any dividend or interest earned on the
financial assets. Dividend or interest income
is presented separately from fair value gain or
loss.

idated Financial Statements
IS s 2% Y 5

FEGSHBER (&)

SRWMIA (&)

THEE (&)

3  EEEBAAEMDERZIEAR

4)

a2

RINEERIL AR BEEL T
AIEHEER REMEE RS
ZFIBEFFHER B MIFWEE TS
REBYHRE LR E3RE
A2z XBE MR HAR
BZRGTAREZARER
BB N RIRMEH TAESE
BrE-

ZEBRARE LRI A AET
i HBARREE -BRER
Bl RIFREHBEBR
WERE KAz — B o H Al
Was kB IR B A 2 m e
R AERBASHOEE

IS
1Bate

BBERB L LA EINRZE M
BE
ZERE BRI IR E KR
AEFEBEMEEKAERA
AREIENEREE BHER
FEESREE NEXER
RIEE RBEBRREAAET
RZeRMEENBTBVBRE
RERNEIFRBEA Z XA G
IARBLHIMERZERE
E-REFREAREINE EM
EE 2 Wt R BB R R -
HETBReEERNZEMA
B BB o BB B A B A
TR R ERmSEIRRER D A
BEE5-



Notes to the Conso
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
4) Financial assets at FVPL (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for
trading if it is:

(i) acquired principally for the purpose of
selling it in the near term;

(i) part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that are managed together
and for which there is evidence of a
recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking on initial recognition; or

(i) a derivative that is not a financial
guarantee contract or not a designated
and effective hedging instrument.

Financial assets are designated at initial
recognition as at FVPL only if doing so
eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise from measuring assets
or liabilities or recognising the gains or losses
on them on different bases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) FEGSHBER (&)
Financial instruments (Continued) ERMI A (£2)
Impairment of financial assets T E R E

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit losses ("ECL") on financial assets that
are measured at amortised cost, to which the
impairment requirements apply in accordance with
HKFRS 9. The Group measures a loss allowance for
a financial asset at an amount equal to the lifetime
ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition. If
the credit risk on a financial asset has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial asset
at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses (i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls)
over the expected life of the financial instrument.
A cash shortfall is the difference between the cash
flows that are due to an entity in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the entity
expects to receive.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value
of the difference between the contractual cash flows
that are due to an entity under the contract and the
cash flows that the entity expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument while 12-month ECL represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result
from default events on a financial instrument that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.
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Notes to the Conso
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account in the assessment:

o the debtor’s failure to make payments of
principal or interest on the due dates;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’'s external or
internal credit rating (if available);

o an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; and

o actual or expected changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have
or may have a significant adverse effect on the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE T —FF _H=1—HItFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) FEGSHBER (&)
Financial instruments (Continued) ERMI A (£2)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) THEERE (&)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk
(Continued)

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not

B BB R0 (4)

&R B ST - AN S R AR A1 X R
iaﬁ;ﬁimﬂlﬂ EREFEEERER

increased significantly since initial recognition if the fp-RlemT AMEERRB 5
financial instrument is determined to have low credit AR AR E L N

risk at the reporting date.

Low credit risk =gl

A financial instrument is determined to have low ThTELA—H AlemIASTER
credit risk if: BEBEEER

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near
term; and

(iii)  adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE T —FF _H=1—HItFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Credit-impaired financial asset
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired include observable data about the

following events:

(a)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower.

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event.

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider.

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

the purchase or origination of a financial asset
at a deep discount that reflects the incurred
credit losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) FESHEE(£)
Financial instruments (Continued) SWMIA(Z)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) LHEERE (&)
Write-off W

The Group writes off a financial asset when the
Group has no reasonable expectations of recovering
the contractual cash flows on a financial asset in its
entirety or a portion thereof. The Group has a policy
of writing off the gross carrying amount based on
historical experience of recoveries of similar assets.
The Group expects no significant recovery from the
amount written off. However, financial assets that
are written off could still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's procedures for recovery
of amounts due, taking into account legal advice if
appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is recognised
in profit or loss. The written off amount recognised
through loss allowance account.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that the
Group may not receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full if the financial instrument that meets
any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group); or

(i) there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Conso
A IR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition

Financial liabilities are recognised when and only
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only
when the liability is extinguished, that is, when
the obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their
fair value plus, in the case of financial liabilities not
carried at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the financial liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities include other
payables and accrual and due to securities brokers.
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method, unless
the effect of discounting would be insignificant, in
which case they are stated at cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include
cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash
and cash equivalents as defined above

1 O6 ANNUAL REPORT 2022 Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited

idated Financial Statements

FEGSHBER (&)

SRMIAE(£F)

THERE

FERR R AR I TR
cReEEEEEARAEEKATA
BHEERT 4 T B FERR o

EHEZAGEERR (AIMEEANE
REEEET EHIER) 2R
BERIERER-

PERIHE
SBEENSEAAARR Tile
BE (0 3FE B A IR A o TR
RIS MEFTSBE BEEBIE22S
R

AEBEZzERAEBREMENRE
fEFt EMA NG RESFE L ZFR -
FIAETRAENTREQARERER
IR B SR A BRI OR3P R
AECRIFMBRFEALAELN A
X251 B

RERREEEY
REFEMBAIRKEIN 2 HE KR E
FEVERRS ATFBAS LAY
TSR o

BERRREREREAMS HEe MR
THEEVMERLXAREZRE MR
EEEY-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition

Dividend income from investments is recognised
when the Group’s rights to receive payment have
been established.

Interest income from financial assets is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information
provided regularly to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group's various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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Notes to the Conso
A IR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency translation

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
the currency of Hong Kong dollars, which is the
Company'’s functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the date of the transactions. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

Borrowing costs
All borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in
the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle that obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the
best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount
is the present value of those cash flows (where the
effect of the time value of money is material).

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising
from past events but is not recognised because
it is not probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for
an obligation, the part of the obligation that is
expected to be met by other parties is treated as a
contingent liability and it is not recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine
whether an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits has become probable. If it
becomes probable that an outflow of future
economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a
provision is recognised in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the
change in probability occurs, except in the extremely
rare circumstances where no reliable estimate can be
made.
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Notes to the Conso
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease at inception of the contract. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption
to short-term leases and low-value asset leases.
Lease payments associated with these leases are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases office premises that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised
as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present
values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefits
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
eligible employees. Contributions are made based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The obligations for contributions to defined
contribution retirement scheme are recognised as an
expense in profit or loss as incurred. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of
the Group in an independent administered fund.

Retirement benefit costs

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contribution to
the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme
vest immediately.

The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed in the central
pension scheme The Group has no forfeiture of
pension scheme contributions (i.e. contributions
processed by the employer on behalf of the
employee who has exited the scheme prior to
vesting of such contributions). As at 31 December
2022, no forfeited contribution under the pension
scheme of the Group is available for deduction of
contribution payable in coming years.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE T —FF _H=1—HItFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Share-based payment transactions
Equity-settled transactions

The Group’s employees, including directors, receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payment
transactions, whereby the employees rendered
services in exchange for shares or rights over shares.
The cost of such transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date. The fair value of
share options granted to employees is recognised as
an employee cost with a corresponding increase in
a reserve within equity. The fair value is determined
using the binomial option pricing model, taking
into account any market conditions and non-vesting
conditions.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the vesting conditions
are to be fulfilled, ending on the date on which
the entitlement of relevant employees to the
award is no longer conditional on the satisfaction
of any non-market vesting conditions (“vesting
date”). During the vesting period, the number of
share options that is expected to vest ultimately is
reviewed. Any adjustment to the cumulative fair
value recognised in prior periods is charged/credited
to profit or loss for the year of review, with a
corresponding adjustment to the reserve within
equity.

When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be transferred to accumulated
losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
A IR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) TESTBER(E)
Share-based payment transactions (Continued) URGBDAERZNARRS (&)
Equity-settled transactions (Continued) BnBZEXE (&)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
with parties other than employees are measured at
fair value of the goods or services received, except
where the fair value cannot be reliably estimated,
in which case they are measured at the fair value of
the equity instruments granted. In all cases, the fair
value is measured at the date the Group obtains the
goods or the counterparty renders the services.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sums of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The charge for current income tax is based on the
results for the year as adjusted for items that are
non-assessable or disallowed. It is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However, any
deferred tax arising from initial recognition of
goodwill; or other asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the time
of the transaction affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss is not recognised.

The deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is recovered or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE T —FF _H=1—HItFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary
differences, tax losses and credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences
arising on investment in subsidiaries except
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences is controlled by the Group and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary
differences on initial recognition of the relevant
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not
recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences
arising from subsequent revision to the carrying
amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities,
resulting from remeasurement of lease liabilities and
lease modifications, that are not subject to initial
recognition exemption are recognised on the date of
remeasurement or modification.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to
the Group.

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:
(Continued)

(a)

(if)

(iii)

has significant influence over the Group;
or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)

(i)

The entity and the Group are members
of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group. If the Group is itself such a
plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is @ member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(b)  children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

(c)  dependents of that person or that person's
spouse or domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate
includes subsidiaries of the associate and a joint
venture includes subsidiaries of the joint venture.

In addition, transactions with connected parties as

defined under the Listing Rules are disclosed in the
Directors’ Report of this annual report.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) TESHEEK (&)
Critical accounting estimates and judgement EEEH AT RHE

Estimates and assumptions concerning the future
and judgements are made by the management
in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. They affect the application of the
Group’s accounting policies, reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and
disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going
basis and are based on experience and relevant
factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Where appropriate, revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period of
revision and future periods, in case the revision also
affects future periods.

Expected credit loss for debt investment
measured at amortised cost and other
receivables

The credit losses for debt investment measured
at amortised cost and other receivables are based
on assumptions about the expected loss rates.
The management use judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
calculation, based on the historical payment records,
existing market conditions as well as forward
looking estimates. Changes in these assumptions
and estimates could materially affect the result of
the assessment and the management may make any
increase or decrease in the loss allowance in future
periods.

EEENRmEEEMERREFL
BRI Z fhFT B BRER A B
HYEB8AGEEARRZER &
E-BE WARRAXZBRESREN
REH 2B - HBHEEELR
BEBRMEER (BRYEEE
ERBATEBERE 2 RAKREHNE
HD)RP b e @ A WEathst 2 &
HESCHEIDP &S InE

AN W2 F S L

BEBHEALTEBCEBERERAM
BRI BRI EEER

REHEXAFEZEBRENAM
EURRBZ EEBEERBRNER
RZBRR-EEERRIZEE LK
AC 8% BT S A MOBTHE ME A AT E
HZERRLEZFEGABURR
ERAHE - ZFRZ RG22 EL
ARt e EERELERATE
B IR B R BE 2 A K SR H R 1R
e 1F RSB AN EkoR D o

5 B

FTEXEABR AR 2022 Fi#f

1

17



Notes to the Conso
A IR ERR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

3. FUTURE CHANGES IN HKFRSs
At the date of authorisation of these consolidated
financial statements, the HKICPA has issued the
following new and amendments to HKFRSs that
are not yet effective for the current year, which the
Group has not early adopted:

HKFRS 17 (including Insurance Contracts'
the October 2020
and February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28  between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5

(2020)"
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants®
Amendments to Disclosure of Accounting
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Policies’

Practice Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates’

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a
date to be determined.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1
January 2024.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE T —FF _H=1—HItFE

3. FUTURE CHANGES IN HKFRSs (Continued)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs
mentioned below, the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of all other new
and amendments to HKFRSs is unlikely to have a
material impact on the Group’s financial position
and performance as well as disclosure in foreseeable
future.

(i) Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies
HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances
of the term “significant accounting policies”
with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity's financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on
the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting
policy information may be material because of
the nature of the related transactions, other
events or conditions, even if the amounts
are immaterial. However, not all accounting
policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is
itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information,
such information must not obscure material
accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements (the “Practice
Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how
an entity applies the “four-step materiality
process” to accounting policy disclosures
and to judge whether information about an
accounting policy is material to its financial
statements. Guidance and examples are added
to the Practice Statement.
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3.

KM

FUTURE CHANGES IN HKFRSs (Continued)

()

(ii)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of
Accounting Policies (Continued)

The application of the amendments is not
expected to have significant impact on the
financial position or performance of the
Group but may affect the disclosures of the
Group's significant accounting policies. The
impacts of application, if any, will be disclosed
in the Group’s future consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of
Accounting Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates
as “monetary amounts in financial statements
that are subject to measurement uncertainty”.
An accounting policy may require items in
financial statements to be measured in a way
that involves measurement uncertainty — that
is, the accounting policy may require such
items to be measured at monetary amounts
that cannot be observed directly and must
instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve
the objective set out by the accounting policy.
Developing accounting estimates involves the
use of judgements or assumptions based on
the latest available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in
accounting estimates in HKAS 8 is retained
with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not
expected to have significant impact on the
Group's consolidated financial statements.
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4. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 4.
The Group is principally engaged in the investment
in listed and unlisted financial assets. Revenue
recognised during the year are as follows:

idated Financial Statements

s B E AU A
AEBEEXRGANE LM EIFLET
TREE AFEDHER WS

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT I
Revenue g
Dividend income from listed equity BB iEmE A R BV
investments at FVPL ZLETBRAKE 2
iz B WA 799 361
Interest income from debt BEERE 2 B WA
investment 924 -
1,723 361
Other Income H g A
Government grants (note) BB (B ET) 72 -
1,795 361

Note:  Government grants from Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (“HKSAR"”) Government
Employment Support Scheme (“ESS”) have
been received for retaining employees who may
otherwise be made redundant. The related salary
expenditure for which government grant intended
to compensate has been fully undertaken. There
are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies
relating to these grants.
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the purpose of internal reporting, the Group
only has one business segment, namely, investment
in listed and unlisted financial assets, which is also
the Group's primary basis of segment reporting.
Accordingly, the Group is not required to present
the segment information on revenue, contribution
to operating profit, assets and liabilities that are
attributable to single segment.

Geographical information

The geographical location from which the Group
derives revenue is based on the location of the
markets of the respective investments; and the
geographical location of the specified non-current
assets is based on the physical location of the asset.
As all of the Group’s revenue and non-current assets
are principally attributable to and located in Hong
Kong, accordingly, no geographical information is
represented.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited

idated Financial Statements
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6.

idated Financial Statements

LOSS BEFORE TAX 6. BRBAIEE
2022 2021
—E_-C —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BETT
This is stated after charging/ gk (FEA)
(crediting):
Finance costs MEHAK
Interest on margin financing FREENES - 19
Staff costs (excluding directors’ BIRAE (EEMHE
remuneration): BRAM)
Salaries and allowance e k2 531 492
Discretionary bonuses BB FEAL 34 -
Retirement scheme contributions R KT 24 3% 21 21
Share-based payment expenses PARR 17 7 B2 2 1 RR A ¢ 11,120 3,077
11,706 3,590
Other items HitEE
Auditor's remuneration ZEED B & 380 360
Expenses related to short term lease EEHFELE 2 MY 160 153
Disclosures pursuant to Rule BB LR R
21.12(1)(c) of the Listing Rules  5£21.12(1)(c) R i &
Realised loss/(gain) from sale HE FMREAKRE 2
of listed equity investments BEHREE/ (W) (i) 47,047 (3,030)
Unrealised gain on listed equity FRAEBE 2 KBS
investments Wz (i) (29,875) (8,951)
Unrealised loss on unlisted equity 3 F AR E 2 K21
investments BB - 23,092
Notes: Wizt -
) The amounts are calculated based on the @) ZESBEDIBRBEHEEMSHIER
sales proceeds less cost of those listed equity B EMIRAIRE 2 ARG E o
investments.

(i) The amounts represented changes in fair value
of unrealised investments during the year and
cumulative change in fair value of realised
investments.
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
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7.

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT 7.

idated Financial Statements

RHNFEEREE T 2RERBE 1

LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL [3:4C1
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Impairment losses recognised on: H T3 R EBEREREZ
WEEE
Debt investment at amortised cost IR KAt E 2
BEBRE 3,824 -
Other receivables Hh & W 5K IR 8,159 3,659
11,983 3,659
TAXATION 8. HE
The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled FREHRERA] &2 HEKE
to the loss before tax per the consolidated statement RZGHBIBEHERNT
of comprehensive income as follows:
Reconciliation of tax expense HIEM B
2022 2021
—E2-= —EZ—4F
HK$000 HK$'000
BET T BET T
Loss before tax B %% Bl & 18 (44,080) (22,644)
Income tax at applicable tax rate of 1ZEHA M L16.5%
16.5% (2021: 16.5%) (ZFE=-—14F:16.5%)
RSN (7,272) (3,736)
Tax exempt revenue T IE A G W 2 (132) (60)
Non-deductible expenses EIEN: 153 4,571 5,754
Utilisation of previously AR ARER
unrecognised tax losses MIBE B (2,096) (481)
Unrecognised deductible AN T SR AT 40 BR
temporary difference iy ] 4,929 (1,477)
Tax credit for the year FAMBEER R - -

ANNUAL REPORT 2022 Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited
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TAXATION (Continued)

Reconciliation of tax expense (Continued)

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profit for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was made in
the consolidated financial statements as the Group
did not derive any assessable profits in Hong Kong
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

As the end of the reporting period, the Group has
unused tax losses of approximately HK$526,223,000
(2021: HK$538,924,000) available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of such losses for both years
due to the unpredictability of future profits streams.
All unrecognised tax losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
deductible temporary difference of approximately
HK$543,898,000 (2021: HK$573,773,000) arising
from the net unrealised loss on listed equity
investments. No deferred tax assets have been
recognised in relation to such deductible temporary
difference as it is not probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised.

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share is based
on the Group’s loss attributable to the equity
holders of the Company of HK$44,080,000 (2021:
HK$22,644,000) and the weighted average number
of 279,194,000 (2021: 264,993,000) ordinary shares
in issue during the year.

On 8 March 2021, the Company completed a share
placing for 44,690,000 shares at a placing price of
HK$0.13 per share.

B\ (&)

HIER X HR (&)

MEFEE 2B H ﬂ STIRLET ERT
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idated Financial Statements

9.  LOSS PER SHARE (Continued) 9. BREE(E)
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the HE-ZT-_—F+-"HA=+—HLHF
weighted average number of ordinary shares has - EmARNE T B2 B R
been adjusted for the effect of the aforesaid share WEZHEELTARE-
placing.
As exercise of share options of the Company would BHE_ZT-_—_FRk_T-_—F+=H
result in a decrease in loss per share, diluted loss =t+—BIFE ARTEARER
per share is the same as basic loss per share in years EeEHEREBERLD Wk
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. SEEEEGREAREEMAR -
10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S 10. EERSREEAEME
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments @ EE=Me
The aggregate amount of emoluments RNAREE D Wk E Kz B
received or receivable by the Company’s TRFEWNT
directors were as follows:
202
—E-CE
Retirement  Share-based
Directors’  Salaries and scheme payment  Discretionary
fees  allowances contributions expenses bonus Total
BIRGtE UARGAEE
EEZHe  HeREW #E  ZAFEX BiERa &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BRI BRI BRI BRI BRI
Executive director HiTEE
Shum Kit Lan Anita A - 840 18 - - 858
Non-executive directors FuEs
Ye Ying £5 - - - - - -
Hu Xiaoting il - - - - - -
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTEES
directors
Chung Fai Chun ERY 120 - - - - 120
Hung Cho Sing HIRE 120 - - - - 120
Yu Tat Chi Michael RES 120 - - - - 120
360 840 18 - - 1,218
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(a)

idated Financial Statements
7R R R B 5

10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 10. ESREREBEAEME (£)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Directors’ emoluments (Continued) () E=EM< (£
2021
—EC--F
Retirement Share-based
Directors' Salaries and scheme payment  Discretionary
fees allowances  contributions expenses bonus Total
RIKGHE MR ARE
2ok FeREM #x PASE 53 BB At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETTL BETTL RETTL BETT BB BB
Executive director HiTES
Shum Kit Lan Anita A - 840 18 - - 858
Non-executive directors FHTEE
Ye Ying (Appointed on FRA(MZZ=-%

9 November 2021) T-ANBEZF) - - - - - -
Hu Xiaoting e 60 - - - - 60
Independent non-executive BUkHTES

directors
Chung Fai Chun ERY 120 - - 17 - 237
Hung Cho Sing HEE 120 - - - - 120
Yu Tat Chi Michael REL 120 - - - - 120

420 840 18 17 - 1,395

All executive directors and independent
non-executive directors of the Company are
the key management personnel, also related
parties, of the Company. During the year, no
other transactions with related parties have
taken place (2021: Nil).

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
paid or payable to the executive director are
generally emoluments paid or payable in
respect of the persons’ services in connection
with the management of the affairs of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

RABIFFBRITEE MBI
BMITESHAFTEERAE
NEBRARBET -FR 1
BERMHETEMRS (=
T —F )

ENSENTHITEZZHE
ERENEYN S - RAREF
REBBEARBLRENBERT
ZEHEEAEARS MmN
HEN 2B
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

idated Financial Statements
IS s 2% Y 5

10. EENREREEAEME (£)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) () E=M< (&)
Directors’ emoluments paid to the non- ST IHERMITES REILIEH
executive and independent non-executive TESFZEEMNe IR BREFE
directors are for their services as directors of EARBIEEmMRE 2R
the Company. ffe
There were no arrangements under which FAN EFUEBBEALHE
a director waived or agreed to waive any WMENXRBRERRME (=
emoluments for the year (2027: Nil). In Fo-—F ) JtHN FRR
addition, no emoluments were paid by SESEREANESINTNE
the Group to any of the directors as an ERIMAREE sMARE
inducement to join, or upon joining the Group H gz HE SN ERBERFE (=
or as a compensation for loss of office for the FE-—F: )
year (2021: Nil).
(b) Individuals with highest emoluments b) EBSFHFMAL
Of the five individuals with highest AEERZERHFMA LS
emoluments of the Group, nil (2021: four) TR(ZFE-—F HE)RE
are directors whose emoluments are disclosed FHEHMN RS MBS
in note 10(a) to the consolidated financial F10@BEZE-HBpAR (ZF
statements. The aggregate of the emoluments Z—F—F)ANT 2GR
in respect of the other five (2027: one) m
individual(s) is as follows:
2022 2021
—E-= —EFE-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Salaries and allowances e KOER 280 240
Discretionary bonus Y 15 TEAT 20 -
Retirement scheme contributions iE K&t 2 5% 12 12
Share-based payment expenses AR D AEAEZ
NENGE 5,687 -
5,999 252
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10. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

idated Financial Statements
IS s 2% Y 5

10. EENEREEAEME (£)

Individuals with highest emoluments (b) EBEEHFMAL(ZE)
(Continued)
The emoluments were within the following BEZHMNT T ATEHE :
band:
Number of employee
EEAH
2022 2021
—Eg-= - —F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 BT ITEEY
1,000,0007T - 1
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 %&#1,000,001 T2
75 #1,500,0007T 5 -
5 1
Share options granted to the directors of (0 BFEARNESZERE
the Company
Under the existing share option scheme BEBERRFRRR-_T—=4F
approved by the shareholders of the Company A=+ B #tE 23R EARE
on 30 April 2013 (the “2013 Option FE(ZE—Z=ZFBRES
Scheme”), the Board may grant options to 2 =g mMAZENS
those participants who, in its sole discretion, RELLIEEEAREBIED
have contributed to or will contribute to ERz2EERLBEBRE-R
the Group. In 2022, no share options were ZEZZF HERARAE
granted to the directors of the Company. In EREERE - R_T_—%F-
2021, 750,000 share options were granted to BEm— 2B IERTESED
an independent non-executive director. Details 750,000f7 g Ik fE - —F — =4
of the 2013 Option Scheme are disclosed BT B 2 FF BN R e T 75
in note 21 to the consolidated financial HwERMIFE21HE -
statements.
BEBFTEXELRAER AT 2022 FR
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11. SUBSIDIARIES 11. KMEAR
The following is a list of the details of the THWAR-E_—_FRZIT-_—F
subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by the TZA=T—BARAREE KEER
Company at 31 December 2022 and 2021: B2 HBARFHE:

Principal place

of business
and place of Particulars of issued Proportion of ownership interest and
Name of subsidiary incorporation share capital voting power held by the Company Principal activities
FTEEEBER KARAAEREERER
WEARER AL 3t B ERTRARE REEZLA TEER
Directly Indirectly Directly Indirectly
EE & H#E %
2022 2022 2021 2021
—E--f CZE--f -T-—-® -FT-_—%
Excellent Top (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong 1 ordinary share with no 100% - 100% - Dormant
par value
KE (BB)BERATF BE 1R EEE 100% - 100% - EBEEx
ZERR
Gufalore Investments Limited The British Virgin 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
Islands each
Gufalore Investments Limited KBRS REREEIET 100% - 100% - REBER
LAk
Ninotre Investment Limited The British Virgin 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
Islands each
Ninotre Investment Limited EBRIHE 1REREBIET 100% - 100% - BEER
ZERK
Pacific Kingdom International ~ The British Virgin 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
Limited Islands each
Pacific Kingdom International KBRS REREEIET 100% - 100% - REBRR
Limited ZERR
Whiterock Holdings Limited The British Virgin 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - 100% - Investment holding
Islands each
Whiterock Holdings Limited EBRIEE RERABIZT 100% - 100% - BEER
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12.

EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 12.
PROFIT OR LOSS

EREBEFBRANEIRZRAKRE

2022 2021
—E - —E-—F
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Current B
Listed equity investments BBz ETRAKRE
in Hong Kong 118,858 136,623
Non-current FERE
Unlisted equity investments BEABEINZ
outside Hong Kong FELEMRARIRE - 58,500

Listed equity investments represent the Group'’s
investments in listed equity securities that are held
for trading, and therefore designated by the Group
as at fair value through profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2022, the net fair value
gain in respect of the Group’s Hong Kong
listed investments recognised in profit or loss
amounted to approximately HK$29,875,000 (2021:
HK$8,951,000), and a net loss of approximately
HK$47,047,000 (2021: net gain of approximately
HK$3,030,000) was recognised in profit or loss upon
disposal of the listed equity investments for the year.

FHRAREEARNEERFEEE
EHBRARE S 2WE - B EEIK'E
BiEEABEBRREIAEIR

RNR—ZE-_—_F+=-_R=+—8"
AEERERBERZEALTER
BZ2RAAhBERZFBEHNABE
29,875,000 (ZE = —F B ¥
8,951,0007t) KA FAME L™
WA EERNEBERBEREBIFELY
B MEAT7,047,000C (Z 2 = —F : %
IR RE A #3,030,0000T ) °
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12. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 12. ZERBEZRAANEIRZERAEKRE

PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued) (#&)

The unlisted equity securities represent investments FETMRABLHFBER-_ZT =
in private entities which are included in the ten TZA=t—HIATEE+AKE
largest investments of the Group as at 31 December MR FLABRBZIRE ~FFHW -

2022. Details are as follows:

2022 2021
—EC-CE 2%
Effective Effective
shareholding shareholding
interest Fair value interest Fair value
ERRE ARE ERRE AVREL
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
izt BETR BETT
Keen Champ Investments Limited (i) -* - 16.00% 50,000
EEREERAA
Peak Zone Group Limited (if), (i) —* - 29.90% 8,500
* All are disposed of during the year ended 31 * HREBZE_FT__F+=H
December 2022. =+ HALFEHE-
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12.

EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)
Movement of during the year (Continued)

Notes:

()

(ii)

(iii)

Keen Champ Investments Limited (“Keen Champ”)
is a private company and incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands. The principal activity of Keen Champ
is investment holding and the principal activities
of its subsidiaries are holding of a bundle of forest
trees in the People 's Republic of China. During the
year ended 31 December 2022, the Group disposed
of its 16.00% equity interests in Keen Champ
at a consideration of HK$50,000,000 of which
HK$40,000,000 was not yet settled and recognised
as other receivables as at 31 December 2022.

Peak Zone Group Limited (“Peak Zone”) is a
private company and incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands. The principal activity of Peak Zone is
investment holding and its subsidiaries are engaged
in the electronic commerce industry specialising in
the provision of integrated application. During the
year ended 31 December 2022, the Group disposed
of its 29.90% equity interests in Peak Zone at a
consideration of HK$8,500,000, which was fully
settled.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group held more than
20% of the effective shareholding interest in these
companies. The investments in these companies
are not accounted for as associates as the Group
had no significant influence over these companies.
In accordance with the relevant agreement signed
between the Group and these investee companies
as well as the other shareholders of the investee
companies, the Group does not have the right to
participate in its policy-making processes, to appoint
directors nor management and to interchange of
managerial personnel.

12.

idated Financial Statements
IS s 2% Y 5

EREBE/BAAEIRZRARE

(%)

FREH (E)

i -

(i)

(if)

(iii)

i 8 B

EREEERAR(IBE])A
REBREZHSFMAL 2R
BAR-EENFTEZEBAILE
R MmMENBARNEZER
BEABMRPEAREME
MARE-HE_ZT-_—_F+=H
=+ —HIEFE AEBURE
75 150,000,000 HEHERET 2
16.00% s i - E A8 140,000,000
TRZZEZZF+ZA=+—H
M R 4505 W TSR A ELAth i W AR -

Peak Zone Group Limited ([Peak
Zone ] ) AN R B Z B St
RS 2 FL& R B o Peak Zone WY
DEBKARELR MEKNBEA
AINEETFEBE EMREHELR
BEA-BE_ZT-__F+_H
—T—HIEFE AEEURES
#:8,500,0007T i & E 7 Peak Zone
229.90% fxiE - KEBEEEEE -

R-ZE-—F+-A=+—H &
EERZERRFHRBRE0% &
PREZHE - MM AR EEHZE AR
BEATEN WRZERRIZE
B EERBERRAR - RIEA
EEEZEMEERRIMATKEE
ARIEMBERR 2 A%EE
WEEDELAKAE SEES
HEEENEBREEAB -
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13. INVESTMENTS PORTFOLIO 13. KREMHSE
Pursuant to the requirements stipulated in Rule R ETRAE212E 2B E A&
21.12 of the Listing Rules, the Group discloses its BB E A+ RIRE M S B4 R
ten largest investments and all individual investments BEEBBNEEBEEES% ZFTEE
with value exceeding 5% of the Group's gross AIRE BREFRERRGMT
assets at the end of the reporting period with brief
description of the investee companies as follows:
Top ten investments TRRE
2022 —Eg=-=
Percentage
of carrying
amount of
Dividend/  investment to
Carrying  Accumulated Coupon  the Company's
amount unrealised received/  total assets as
Effective asat holding gain/ receivable  at the end of
Number of  shareholding Acquisition 31 December (loss) arising on during  the reporting  Classification
Name of investee company shares held interest cost 2022 revaluation the year period of financial assets
EfRELL REEH
R-BzZE EHES 3] RREBEE
+=Azt-H B/ EREH/ BRATLEE
FREDAZE RERAHE EBRE WREA 2EAE (BR) EURE/E2 ZEAL SRMEELR
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Hiit BETT BBTT BETT BETT
WLS Holdings Ltd. (i) 693,720,000 4.83% 48,513 47,867 (646) - 25.7%  Current equity instruments FVPL
EEZRERAA FRBERAAEIRZRBDRATA
AMCO United Holding Limited (i) N/A N/A 20,000 17,100 (2,900 - 9.2%  Debt investment at amortised cost
EZERBRAA TER TER REHKAT B 2 BEHIRE
SEEC Media Group Ltd. (i) 16,177,000 2.20% 67,251 10,839 (56,412) - 5.8%  Current equity instruments FVPL
HREREEERAA FRBERALEIRZRBDRAIA
Asia Grocery Distribution Ltd. (ix) 25,430,000 2.19% 4,562 10,553 5,991 - 5.7%  Current equity instruments FVPL
DMEEERAA BRBREALENRZRHRALA
Milan Station Holdings Ltd. U 33,962,500 3.86% 12,736 6,725 (6,011) - 36%  Current equity instruments FVPL
AWBERARAR BRRERAAENEZRBRATA
China Jicheng Holdings Ltd. (1) 14,780,000 3.58% 7877 6,503 (1,374) - 3.5%  Current equity instruments FVPL
REERERERAA BRBREARENRZRYRALA
HSBC Holdings PLC (xif) 94,000 0.00% 5,766 4,564 (1,202) - 24%  Current equity instruments FVPL
ELERERAA FRBERALEIRZRBDRAIA
Suncorp Technologies Ltd. x) 12,604,500 0.84% 96,838 3718 (93,120) - 2.0%  Current equity instruments FVPL
HENBRERAR BRBREALAENRZRYRALA
Legendary Group Ltd. (vii) 2,625,645 0.67% 49,884 3,440 (46,444) 600 1.8%  Current equity instruments FVPL
HREREAERAA FRBERALEIRZRBDRATIA
China e-Wallet Payment Group Ltd. (iv) 20,394,074 3.38% 39,874 2,753 (37,121) - 1.5%  Current equity instruments FVPL
PEEAXHEEERAR BRBREARENRZRYRALA
1 34 ANNUAL REPORT 2022 Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited
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13.

INVESTMENTS PORTFOLIO (Continued) 13. REMLAE (&
. . s =
Top ten investments (Continued) TRRE (&
2021 —T-—F
Percentage of
carrying amount
Carrying Accumulated Dividend ~ of investment to
amount unrealised received/  the Company's
Effective as at holding gain/ receivable  total assets as at
Number of shareholding Acquisition 31 December ~ (loss) arising on during  theend of the  Classification
Name of investee company shares held interest cost 2021 revaluation the year reporting period  of financial assets
EfBELZ REEH
BEARER ARERAE
BRlE/ EREY/ BEARBEE
FREANRER FsRHEE ERRE B A (F8) KRS ZEAN  SREENR
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
it BB BETTL BETTL BB
Keen Champ Investments Limited (i) 16 16.00% 128,000 50,000 (78,000) - 22.9%  Non-current equity instruments FVPL
BERAERAA FRBEEAABIRZERDRATA
WLS Holdings Limited (i) 693,720,000 4.83% 48,513 35,380 (13,133) - 16.2%  Current equity instruments FVPL
EEZRERAA FRBERALEIRZRBRATA
SEEC Media Group Limited (i) 16,177,000 2.63% 67,251 11,000 (56,251) - 5.0%  Current equity instruments FVPL
HMEREEARAR BERBREEAAEIRZRPRATA
China e-Wallet Payment Group (iv) 101,970,371 3.72% 39,874 10,911 (28,963) - 50%  Current equity instruments FVPL
Limited
FEEAXHEEERAA BERBREEAAEIRZRDRATA
Milan Station Holdings Limited U 33,962,500 4.77% 12,736 10,019 2,7117) - 4.6%  Current equity instruments FVPL
AWHERARAR BRRERAAENEZRBRATLA
Peak Zone Group Limited () 2,99 29.90% 90,000 8,500 (81,500) - 3.9%  Non-current equity instruments FVPL
Peak Zone Group Limited FRBEEAABIRZERDRATA
Legendary Group Limited (vii) 23,864,000 1.55% 99,745 6,243 (93,502) - 2.8%  Current equity instruments FVPL
HREREAERAA FRBERALEIRZRBRATA
AMCO United Holding Limited (vii) 55,260,000 2.28% 33,152 5,526 (27,626) - 2.5%  Current equity instruments FVPL
ERERERRA BERBREEAAEIRZRDRAIA
Asia Grocery Distribution Limited (ix) 25,430,000 2.19% 4,562 4,959 397 - 2.2%  Current equity instruments FVPL
TMEEERAA BRRERAAENEZRBRATLA
Suncorp Technologies Limited ) 12,604,500 0.84% 96,838 4,852 (91,986) - 2.2%  Current equity instruments FVPL

FRHHERLAA
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13.

INVESTMENTS PORTFOLIO (Continued)
Top ten investments (Continued)

Notes.

(i)

(ii)

The place of incorporation and the principal
activities of Keen Champ are detailed in note 11(ii)
of these financial statements. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, the Group disposed of
its interest in Keen Champ.

WLS Holdings Limited (“WLS") is incorporated in
the Cayman Islands as an exempted company and
continued in Bermuda with limited liability and
its shares are listed on Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (Stock code: 8021). WLS is principally
engaged in the scaffolding and fitting out services,
management contracting services and other services
for construction and buildings work, money lending
business, securities brokerage and margin financing
and securities investment business. For the year
ended 30 April 2022, the audited consolidated loss
attributable to owners of WLS was HK$10,818,000
with basic and diluted loss per share of HKO0.075
cents. As at 31 October 2022, its unaudited
consolidated net assets attributable to the owners
was HK$487,187,000.
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REHES (E)
TRRE (&)

it -

(i)

(if)

EE A MM N EEE
BRI S B A TR R KT 51 1) Al o
HE-_ZT-_—_F+=-A=+—H
IHFEE AEEEHEERETZ
MRS

ERZRER AR (NERZER])
AB—HRHASEEFEMAT &
REARAFENEREFTEZ
ERAR ERMPREBHAR
SMBRRAR Em (KHARR:
8021)  ERIEAT EEHN =R (52
EREETEPREERBEE
RIS ERAEHRB L EMRGEZ
¥ EEER BELELCRITE
MEUNBEASREEB -HEZ
T —FNA=Z+HIEFE ER
TR A EEZEAEBRE
B 1510,818,0007T  BIREAR &
BEEEABEO/TSM-RZF
T F+A=Z1+—H HEEAME
HACEREECEEFEREE
487,187,0007T ©
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13. INVESTMENTS PORTFOLIO (Continued) 13. REMHE (&)

Top ten investments (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

SEEC Media Group Limited (“SEEC") was
incorporated in Cayman Islands and the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 205). SEEC is principally
engaged in the provision of advertising agency
services and distribution of books and magazines in
the PRC and the securities broking business, money
lending business and provision of e-commerce
platform services and sales of related goods in
Hong Kong. For the year ended 31 December 2021,
the audited consolidated loss attributable to owners
of SEEC was HK$40,136,000 with basic and diluted
loss per share of HK$0.08. As at 30 June 2022, its
unaudited consolidated net assets attributable to
the owners was HK$234,235,000.

China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited (“China
e-Wallet”) was incorporated in Bermuda and the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 802). China e-Wallet is
principally engaged in the provision of internet and
mobile application and distribution of computer-
related and mobile-related electronic products
and accessories. For the financial year ended
31 December 2021, the audited consolidated
loss attributable to owners of China e-Wallet was
HK$32,370,000 with basic and diluted loss per
share of HK1.11 cents. As at 30 June 2022, its
unaudited consolidated net assets attributable to
the owners was HK$396,059,000.

Milan Station Holdings (“Milan Station”) was
incorporated in Cayman lIslands and the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1150). Milan Station
principally engaged in the retailing of handbags.
For the financial year ended 31 December 2022,
the audited consolidated loss attributable to
owners of Milan Station was HK$45,855,000 with
basic and diluted loss per share of HK6.07 cents.
As at 31 December 2022, its audited consolidated
net assets attributable to the owners was
HK$112,718,000.

TRRE (&)
Hret - ()

(i)  EHIEEEEBRER AR ([HHAE
BORASESEMAY EE&
DR FTER BT (B 55 -
205) BB T BN EETEH
REBERERBEDHEEER
HRER UREEEREESE
MER NEXEHRERETES
FaREARBERBER -HE
—E-_—F+-A=+—8L*HF
& BEEE A A B SR
A B 18 B #40,136,0007T - B A
ERREEEIBAB0.08T 1
—EFXA=1TH HEEA
AR EZEAEEFEAS
#234,235,0007T °

vy FEHEEEINEEERAA([H
B8 ]) N EREGMA R
PRBE R AT ER £ (RO AR5
802) HEIEBFERERHEE
G R ERRE R A KT E
AL HHEENEFERRE
HEHRE - BE_E-_—F+_f8
=+t RIEVREE  FRERE
BABRLKEZEABEABE
32,370,0007T - F R EAR R EEE
BABEIINMMU R _F<
A=1+8 H#EB ABLREEZ
e B EFE A B 396,059,000
5o

v) KB AR AR ([RE])
NSRS - AR5 R 5B
REFER M (BROARSR :1150) °
KEUMFEREFRTE-HEZ
T —F+-/A=+—HIHK
FE KRB ABGEEZR
& 518 BB #45,855,0000T &%
ERXNEEEERBEK6OML -1
- F+-RA=+—H E#%
BABRLKEZGAEEFER
751112,718,000. 7T

BERTEXEAARAR 2022 FR

137



Notes to the Conso

iR e B g R R MY
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE T —FF _H=1—HItFE

13. INVESTMENTS PORTFOLIO (Continued)

Top ten investments (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The place of incorporation and the principal
activities of Peak Zone are detailed in note 12(iii) of
these financial statements. During the year ended
31 December 2022, the Group disposed of its
interest in Peak Zone.

Legendary Group Limited (formerly known as “L &
A International Holdings”) (“Legendary”) was
incorporated in Cayman Islands and the shares of
which are listed on Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (stock code: 8195). Legendary principally
engaged in the manufacturing, sales and retailing
of garment products. For the financial year
ended 31 March 2022, the audited consolidated
loss attributable to owners of Legendary was
HK$27,180,000 with basic and diluted loss per
share of HK$7.6 cents. As at 30 September 2022,
its unaudited consolidated net assets attributable to
the owners was HK$232,232,000.

AMCO United Holding Limited ("AMCO") was
incorporated in Bermuda and the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 630). AMCO is principally engaged
in medical devices business, plastic moulding
business, building contract works business, money
lending business and securities investment. For
the year ended 31 December 2021, the audited
consolidated loss attributable to owners of AMCO
was HK$18,108,000 with basic and diluted loss
per share of HK0.75 cents. As at 30 June 2022, its
unaudited consolidated net assets attributable to
the owners was HK$93,915,000.

1 3 8 ANNUAL REPORT 2022 Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited

idated Financial Statements

REMES (&)
TRRE (&)
ftet - (&)

(vi)

(vii)
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13.

INVESTMENTS PORTFOLIO (Continued)

Top ten investments (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(ix)

Asia Grocery Distribution Limited (“Asia Grocery”)
incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited
liability and its shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Stock code:
8413). It is principally engaged in the provision of
food and beverage grocery distribution. For the
financial year ended 31 March 2022, the audited
consolidated loss attributable to equity holders of
Asia Grocery was HK$2,137,000 with basis and
diluted loss per share both of HK$0.18 cents. As
at 30 September 2022, its unaudited consolidated
net assets attributable to the equity holder was
HK$104,842,000.

Suncorp Technologies Limited (“Suncorp”) was
incorporated in Bermuda and the shares of which
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1063). Suncorp is principally engaged
in trading of telephones and related components,
used computer-related components, money lending
business, brokerage, placing and underwriting
services and B2B cross-border e-commerce business.
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the audited
consolidated loss attributable to owners of Suncorp
was HK$58,753,000 with basic and diluted loss per
share of HK$5.09 cents. As at 30 June 2022, its
unaudited consolidated net assets attributable to
the owners was HK$216,412,000.

China lJicheng Holdings Ltd. (“China Jicheng”)
was incorporated in Cayman Islands and the shares
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1027). China lJicheng is principally
engaged in manufacturing and sale of umbrellas
and the relevant products. For the year ended
31 December 2021, the audited consolidated
loss attributable to owners of China Jicheng was
RMB127,729,000 with basic and diluted loss per
share of RMB42.76 cents. As at 30 June 2022, its
unaudited consolidated net assets attributable to
the owners was RMB338,056,000.
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13. INVESTMENTS PORTFOLIO (Continued) 13.

Top ten investments (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(xii)  HSBC Holdings PLC (“HSBC") was incorporated
in and the shares are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0005). For
the year ended 31 December 2022, the audited
consolidated loss attributable to owners of HSBC
was US$14,822,000,000 with basic and diluted
loss per share of US$0.75 cents and US$0.74 cents
respectively. As at 31 December 2022, its audited
consolidated net assets attributable to the owners

idated Financial Statements

REMAS (F)
TRRE (&)
Hiet - (&)

(xii)

ELERERAE (NER]) KT
Ak Sz - AR IR B X FT £ R L
(M ARSE:0005) EHE-F
ZZE+ZA=t+—HILFE-
ELHB ARGEERGEAERE
£14,822,000,0003 7T * R E A
K #EEE S B A0.75% 0 }0.74
Ee-RZEZ—F+_A=+—
H EBEABEKEZREEE

was US$187,484,000,000. 7${8/4187,484,000,0003 7T °
14. DEBT INVESTMENT MEASURED AT AMORTISED 14. REBERAFTEZEBBRE
COST
2022 2021
—E-—F —_EF-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T o T
Unlisted debt investment (Note) FELETMEBIKE (Hit) 20,000 -
Interest receivable JiE U 1) B 924 -
Less: Allowance for credit losses B s B EEE (3,824) -
17,100 -
Analysed as: : Pk
Non-current ERE 17,100 -
17,100 -
Note: Biat -

The unlisted debt investment represented unlisted bonds
with principal amount of HK$20,000,000 issued by
AMCO, which is listed in Hong Kong, during the year
ended 31 December 2022. It is unsecured, carries interest
at 6% per annum and matured in 8 years (i.e. 96 months).
The principle activities of AMCO was stated in Note
13(viii).
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14.

15.

idated Financial Statements

DEBT INVESTMENT MEASURED AT AMORTISED 14. REBERAGTECEBBRE (£)
COST (Continued)
The movements in the allowance for credit losses of BREHENAGFTECEEREZREE
debt investment measured at amortised cost are as EEREEESHNT
follows:
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEET T BT T
At the beginning of the year i) - -
Impairment losses, net BB 18 EE 3,824 -
At the end of the year REXR 3,824 -
Details of impairment assessment are set out in note BAER R BEE R M eE27 -
27.
DUE FROM SECURITIES BROKERS 15. BWRERFLLHE

Amounts due from securities brokers represent
deposits placed with securities brokers for the
trading of listed investments which are repayable on
demand and interest-free.

BB FELHAENEE LHIRE
TFHRRNEA L2 IS BRENRE
BRRE-

BEBFTEXELRAER AT 2022 FR
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BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

16. OTHER RECEIVABLES 16. HEWRIR
2022 2021
—E2-C —E -4
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BB T
Other receivables H th & U SR8 53,190 27,855
Loss allowance for ECL BHEEEBEEZ
EERE (10,554) (8,395)
42,636 19,460
The movements in the loss allowance for ECL of HipEd By B EE BB 2 EE
other receivables are as follows: BEeEghmn
2022 2021
—E2-= —E -4
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T ok e
At the beginning of the year NG 8,395 4,736
Recognition of impairment R EEEEE
losses, net 8,159 3,659
Written off 1 38 (6,000) -
At the end of the year RF R 10,554 8,395
Other receivables represent the consideration HMEWSIBEBE T _F R
receivables arising from the disposal of unlisted T-_—F+-_A=+t—HLFELE
equity investments for both years ended 31 FELETIRAEEEEZ BYHRE-

December 2022 and 2021.

1 4 2 ANNUAL REPORT 2022 Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited



Notes to the Conso

4= A

N = /\j 7.|7777 $I§%§ |§ﬁ~ EE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE—F_—F+_A=1—HIFE

17.

18.

19.

idated Financial Statements

BANK BALANCES AND CASH 17. BITEEFRAS
Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based RITIRSBIBEE A RITERN RIRF
on daily bank deposit rates. BN SR BRECH 8
Details of impairment assessment of bank balances RITHETFCREN BT EHNM T
are set out in note 27. 27 °
OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 18. HttENRRETER
2022 2021
—E=-= —EZ—F
HK$000 HK$000
BT T BT T
Other payables H & 1~ 5K 99 -
Accruals fEst & 1,303 670
1,402 670
Accruals mainly included accrued operating expense A ERATERRENEERIY
of approximately HK$516,000 and accrued audit fee 75 #516,000T R EETEET B A K
of HK$380,000. (2021: audit fee of HK$360,000). 380,0007C (Z T = —F B BB
360,0007T) °
DUE TO SECURITIES BROKERS 19. HEXRBHFEL2NE

Amounts due to securities brokers represent margin
loans arising from the trading of listed investments
which are repayable on demand. No ageing analysis
is disclosed in respect of due to securities brokers.
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, an
ageing analysis does not give additional value in

view of the Group’s business nature.

BREFERZFABEE LTHRE
RAEENREBSER FHEENRT)
RERER WHEFBEERIBHFEL
LR BRER DO » ARRIEFRR
MASEXBEEMS R OMAL
EEIMEE-

BERTEXEAARAR 2022 FR
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idated Financial Statements

SHARE CAPITAL 20. R
Number of
Ordinary
Shares of Nominal
HK$0.001 Value
BREE
7 #£0.0017T
2EBR#EAR HE
‘000 HK$'000
T BET T
Authorised: ERE
At 1 January 2021 and RZEZ—F—H—HEK
31 December 2021 —E-—F+ZA=+—H 2,000,000 2,000
At 1 January 2021 R-ZE-_—F—H—H 223,472 223
Exercise of share options 77150 B i 7,440 8
Share capital issued under RIRELE BFITIRA
placing (note 1) (Htat1) 44,690 45
At 31 December 2021 and RZEBE-_—F+-_A=+—HEK
1 January 2022 —E-_—_F#—AF—H 275,602 276
Exercise of share options 77150 B i 5,580 5
At 31 December 2022 R=B=ZZ=ZF+=H=+—H 281,182 281

Note:

1. On 8 March 2021, the Company completed a share
placing for 44,690,000 shares at a placing price of
HK$0.13 per share to independent investors. Details
of the placement are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 18 February 2021 and

8 March 2021.
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21.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The existing share option scheme of the Company
was approved and adopted by shareholders’
resolution at the annual general meeting held
on 30 April 2013 (the “"Option Scheme”),
unless otherwise cancelled or amended subject
to resolution passed at general meeting of the
Company the Option Scheme will remain in
force for ten years from 30 April 2013. As at
31 December 2022, the remaining life of the Option
Scheme was approximately 4 months.

The purpose of the Option Scheme is to reward the
participants who have contributed or will contribute
to the Group and to encourage the participants to
work towards enhancing the value of the Company
and its shares for the benefit of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole. Under the Option Scheme,
the Board of the Company may grant options to
those participants who, in its sole discretion, have
contributed to or will contribute to the Group.

Eligible participants (the “Participants”) of
the Option Scheme include any directors of
the Company (including executive directors,
independent
non-executive directors of the Company) and
employees of the Group, any directors or employees
of a company or entity in which the Group has
invested in and any advisors (professional or
otherwise), consultants, distributors, contractors,
suppliers, agents, customers, business partners, joint
venture business partners, promoters, any directors

non-executive directors and

or employees of any service providers of any
members of the Group.

21.

idated Financial Statements

B ERT &
ARBIZBABREFEER-F
—ZFMA=THETZERBFX
T EREBRRORFERIE MR ([48
BRAERTE])  RIFERTRARRIBR
RE LBBRBERIHLET BRI
BREGEAKE - =FMOA=1
BRF+FRA—BEAR-N_T_—
FTZA=1t—8 BREFIOF
ERFHIX) RAE A -

BREI S E BB REIBEHAR
SEEHERz2RERTB2EE
AARRBMEBRR 2 ERNERE
% BORARRRRERND ZEE-
RIEBERETS ARAREZEEA2
BRERMELEIGEHAKEELE
Bl 2 EE R T BAE -

BREGS A BER2EHE ([BH
EZ)BEARFDEAES (BEAR
AIRTTES FATEFLBILIFHR
TEF)RAEERE AEEMK
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21.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Without prior separate approval from the Company’s
shareholders, (i) the total number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Option Scheme and any other
share option scheme of the Company must not
exceed 10% of the shares of the Company as at
the date of the shareholders’ approval of the option
limit; and (ii) the maximum number of shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted to each Participant under the Option
Scheme (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not (when
aggregated with any shares of the Company subject
to options granted during such period under any
other share option scheme(s) of the Company)
exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue
for any time being.

Any grant of options to any directors, chief
executive or substantive shareholders (as such terms
as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company, or
any of their respective associates under the Option
Scheme or any other share option scheme of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries shall be subject
to the prior approval of the independent non-
executive directors or shareholders of the Company
as the case may be. Without prior separate approval
from the Company’s shareholders, the maximum
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect
of which options granted and may be granted to
a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive director of the Company in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant
shall not (i) exceed 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue on the date of such grant; and (ii)
have an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on
the date of grant, in excess of HK$5 million.
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21.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

Under the Option Scheme, the options granted
may be accepted by the participants concerned
for a period of twenty-eight days from the date of
such offer. An option shall be regarded as having
been accepted when the Company receives from
the Participant the duplicate of the offer letter duly
signed by the Participant together with a remittance
in favour of the Company of HK$1 as consideration
for the grant of option. Options may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Option Scheme at
any time not exceeding a period of ten years from
the date on which the share option is granted. The
subscription price for the shares on the exercise
of an option under the Option Scheme shall be
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion
but in any event shall not be less than the highest
of: (i) the closing price of the Company’s share as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the date of grant which must be
a business day; (ii) the average closing price of the
Company’s share as stated in the daily quotation
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company's
share.

21.

BRERE ()

REBRESE HE2EENER
A HEEET — + \ A I AR AR T
BB - RARR B2 EEREL
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21. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 21. BRESE (&)
Details of share options granted REBREFE

Closing

price of the

Company's

shares

Closing price of ~ immediately
the Company's before the

Number of shares on date of
outstanding Options Vesting Exercise  Exercisable the date of Options

Date of grant as at 31 December date price period  Options granted granted

KRRRG

KRRRAR REERH

R+=A=1+-8 BEBRERS BRERSAH

BLAH HRTERRESR BEAY @ TEHE 2T E 2 E
2022 2021
—g--&  —E--F

Options granted to Directors and RZZ-FFRA+— H 5,580,000 11,160,000 11 May 2020 HK$0.179 3 years HK$0.164 HK$0.164
employees of the Company on (X HBR%) AL ZZ-TF BE0ITIT = BG4 BB0164T
11 May 2020 %ﬂ@éﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ&@é LAT-R
(after trading hours)

Options granted to a Director ~ WZFZ—FRA+—H 17,250,000  17,250,000° 11 May 2021 HK$0.316 3 years HK$0.295 HK$0.315
and employees of the Company ~ (RZER%)AAL ) ZTZ-F  B%03161 =F #8025 0315
on 11 May 2021 (after trading ~—2EEREERLERE AAt+-A
hours)

Options granted to employees ~ W=E=—FXAZ ‘I')\ H 5,000,000 5,000,000 28 June 2021 HK$0.305 3 years HK$0.305 HK$0.305
of the Company on 28 June (RHBRE)MARLT ZEZ-F B%0305T =F BE0305T 03057
2021 (after trading hours) RER LR E ~AZTAR

Options granted to employees ~ R=ZE--FHA+= B 22,000,000 - 12 May 2022 HK$0.800 3 years HK$0.72 HK$0.72
of the Company on 12 May (RHERE)MARLT “Z--F %0800 =F E80.727 E80.72
2022 (after trading hours) EERLERE ATA+ZH

Options granted to employees ~ W-Z- %A= ‘I')\ = 5,500,000 - 28 June 2022 HK$0.780 3 years HK$0.72 HK$0.72
of the Company on 28 June (REBRE)MARLT ZTZZF E%07801m =F E80.72 E80.72
2022 (after trading hours) RER LR E ~NAZTNR

Total Options RbEREEH 55,330,000 33,410,000
granted

1 48 ANNUAL REPORT 2022 Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited
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21.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
Details of share options granted (Continued)

#

Included in the outstanding Options as at
31 December 2021 and 2022, 1,860,000 Options
were granted to each of Ms. HU Xiaoting,
non-executive Director of the Company, and
Ms. CHUNG Fai Chun, independent non-executive
Director of the Company.

Included in the outstanding Options as at
31 December 2021 and 2022, 750,000 Options
were granted to Ms. CHUNG Fai Chun, an
independent non-executive Director of the
Company.

The movement of share options granted and
weighted average exercise prices of share options

idated Financial Statements
IS s 2% Y 5

BRESTE (2)

REBRESSE (&)

# RZE-Z—FR-ZE-__F+=
B=+—BZHKR1TEERESD
RABERITEEPEEL TR
RARBUIERITEETERER KL
+ & B #1%1,860,00017 BE A% 4

A RIE-_—FR-_F-__F+_
A=t+—HzRRITERRES
ARBEIUFNTEFERD K
T 1%750,00017 B Ak -

BB EE ) MBI 1917
(B

Number of options

BRESE
2022 2021
—Eg-= —E-—F

Outstanding at the beginning of FHRITEE

the year 33,410,000 22,320,000
Granted during the year FAEMN 27,500,000 22,250,000
Lapsed during the year FARK - (3,720,000)
Exercised during the year FARTE (5,580,000) (7,440,000)
Outstanding at the end of the year FRAKITE 55,330,000 33,410,000
Exercisable at the end of the year FARATRE 55,330,000 33,410,000

BEET

EXEAARRAA 2022 F&)
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21. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 21. BREE(Z)
Details of share options granted (Continued) REBRERSE (2)
The share options outstanding at 31 December 2022 RZEBZ_Z_F+ZA=1+—BK1T
have exercise prices of HK$0.305-0.800 per option FERERENTEERSNHBERES
(2021: HK$0.12-0.32) and a weighted average #0.305-0.8007T (ZE = —F : B ¥
remaining contractual life of 3 years (2021: 2.05 0.12-0.327T) " I FH Fer & O F
years). HAR3F (ZTEZ—F:2.05F) °
For share options granted during the years ended FRBZEZE_T-_—_FR-_T-_—%F
31 December 2022 and 2021, the share options TZA=T—HLEFERENER
were measured at fair value at grant date with - EBREZX2EEEBETEER A AR
reference to a valuation report prepared by SIP MR E N L AR AR EE
International Valuation Limited, calculated using 2 RETIEFEBRERAZBEAXE
Binomial Option Pricing model with the following BEBEREAE:
key assumptions:
Share price RE June 2022 May 2022 June 2021 May 2021
“E--FEXNA -—B--FfA —%FxA —FhA
Exercise price 16e 18 HK$0.7800 HK$0.800 HK$0.305 HK$0.316
7 #£0.7800 T 7 #0.8007C 7%0.3057T ##0.3167T
Expected volatility (Note below) — FEHR 18 (LA TP ) 110% 110% 103% 100%
Expected option life B ERESH 3years =% 3years =% 3 years = 3 years =
Expected dividends HERE - - - -
Risk-free interest rate (per annum) 4 & k& & 7 & 2.693% 2.550% 0.288% 0.256%
Fair value of a share option IR B R R HK$0.3674 HK$0.4136 HK$0.1557 HK$0.1393-
at grant date ARE B¥0.3674T  B¥04136T  BH0.1557T HK$0.1563
#0.1393 L2
7#%0.15637C
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21.

22.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The expected volatility is based on the historical
volatility (calculated based on the weighted average
remaining life of the share options), adjusted for
any expected changes to future volatility based on
publicly available information.

The Group recognised a total expense of
approximately HK$11,120,000 for the year ended
31 December 2022 (2021: HK$3,194,000) in relation
to share options granted by the Company.

There were 55,330,000 (2021: 33,410,000) shares,
representing approximately 19.69% (2021: 12.12%)
of total issued share capital of the Company,
available for issue under the Option Scheme as at
the date of this Annual Report.

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

Net asset value per share is calculated by dividing the
net assets included in the consolidated statement of
financial position of approximately HK$185,087,000
(2021: HK$217,049,000) by the number of shares
in issue at 31 December 2022, being 281,181,680
(2021: 275,601,680).

In the course of preparation of this annual
report, the value of the Group's financial assets
at amortised cost decreased by net amount of
approximately HK$11,983,000, which was made
with reference to independent valuation reports.
Those valuation reports were finalised subsequent
to 12 January 2023, the date of the Company’s
announcement titled “Net Asset Value” (the "NAV
Announcement”). The decrease of net asset value
per share of the Company as at 31 December 2022
from approximately HK$0.702 as stated in the NAV
Announcement to approximately HK$0.66 as stated
in this consolidated financial statements is principally
resulted from the aforesaid changes in ECL on
financial assets.

21.

22.

idated Financial Statements

BRERE ()

T8 HAIR 8 TH R B SRR (JR B AR A A
BEFEHn TEHAREFE E2H
A B B AP 3 R 2ROR: 0 1 1 ) T8 HA 22
BFE -
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BREEFE
SBREEFEUIE TR RATEH
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23.

24.

idated Financial Statements

CHARGE OF ASSETS AND MARGIN FACILITIES 23. BEEARREBEFEE
As at 31 December 2022, margin facilities from a R-ZZE-_—_F+-—A=+—H —%&
regulated securities brokers were granted to the RREREAELAAEERERES
Group which were secured by the Group’s listed EE MZEEENUAEEETE
equity investment at FVPL, with a total market value 478 %220,0000T (ZE = —F B
of approximately HK$220,000 (2021: HK$430,000). 430,0007T) 2 i i@ R A st B AR
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had ZETBRAREEER- R
not utilised against these facilities. FRZFZ_—F+ZA=+—H'K
EEVESHAZEEE-
DEFERRED TAXATION 24, EERIIE
Unrecognised deferred tax assets arising from AUTREMEE 2 RERIELHIE
BE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BEET T
Deductible temporary differences FRBmE R ESER
from changes in fair value of ZmERARE
current equity investments at fair AREEFHEELL
value through profit or loss AIRERRE R 89,744 94,673
Tax losses MIBEE 86,827 88,923
At 31 December R+=-—A=+-—~H 176,571 183,596

Neither the tax losses nor the deductible temporary
differences expire under current tax legislation.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams.

Recognised deferred tax liabilities and unrecognised
deferred tax assets are not offset as there is no
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities.
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25. CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) OPERATIONS 25.

idated Financial Statements

EEME/ (FARE

2022 2021
—E_-C —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETT
Loss before tax PR Al E 18 (44,080) (22,644)
Changes in fair value of listed BRBREAAEIERZ
equity investments at FVPL ETARAEREZ
RRERS (29,875) (8,951)
Change in fair value of unlisted BRBRBEALBEIERLZ
equity investment at FVPL FLETRAREZ
RAEEE - 23,092
Impairment losses under expected credit FEEIEEBEERTH
loss model, net of reversal HEEE KD 11,983 3,659
Interests income from debt investment B E 2 FI B WA (924) -
Interest expenses FMERX - 19
Dividend income BB WA (799) (361)
Share-based payment expenses R BEEZNHAX 11,120 3,194
Change in working capital: LEEREE:
Financial assets at FVPL FEBRBRERALENERZ
THMEE 66,140 6,200
Debt investment measured at REBHEKAGELZ
amortised cost BEBRE (20,000) -
Deposits and prepayments, other me REMFK-
receivable and due from securities Ho A B M RRIE e
brokers JE W 38 75 18 40 BB 10,709 (11,725)
Other payables and accruals and HiENRRETER
due to securities broker INRERBHFLL 2
KA 732 54
Cash generated from/(used in) EEMS/ (FR)E:
operations 5,006 (7,463)
BEHFTEFXAAFGR QA 2022 F&%
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26.

27.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions/information disclosed
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements,
during the year, the Group had the following
transaction with Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong)
Limited, the investment managers of the Company,
which provides investment management service
to the Group. Investment manager is considered
a connected person under Rule 14A.08 of Listing
Rules.

26.

idated Financial Statements

BB ARS

BRI SR A ISR A H M EENFT
WEZRS/ERIN REAFEE K
SEEEREZS (F8)BRAF (K
NEZIERIE AL BIREIRE
EERB)IAEUTRGZ -RIELTE
HIZB14A 0815 REK B R B — A
EA L

2022 2021

—=E:=-= —E-—F

Related party relationship Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000

B3 Bt 75 BB & REMHE BT BT

Current investment manager of Investment management 600 600

the Company service fee

ANRA 2 BEREKIE REEERBE

600 600

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include
debt investment measured at amortised cost, bank
balances and cash, equity investments, deposits, due
from/to securities broker, other receivables and other
payables and accruals. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments
and the policies applied by the Group to mitigate
these risks are set out below. Management monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner.
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27.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Financial risk factors
Price risk

As set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements, certain of the Group’s equity
investments at fair value through profit or loss listed
in the stock market are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Therefore, the
Group’s investments in equity securities are exposed
to equity price risk. The management manages
exposure to the risk centrally by monitoring the
change of market prices of the equity from time to
time, and by maintaining a portfolio of investments
with different profiles in Hong Kong. The sensitivity
analysis has been determined based on the exposure
to equity price risk. At the reporting date, if the
fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss had been 5% higher/lower while all
other variables were held constant, the Group's pre-
tax loss for the year would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$5,943,000 (2021: HK$6,831,000).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group is exposed to credit risk for all financial
assets that a counterparty in a transaction may
default on settlement, including debt investment
measured at amortised cost, bank balances, other
receivables and due from securities brokers. The
maximum exposure equals to the carrying amount of
these financial assets. The Group does not provide
any guarantees which would expose the Group to
credit risk.

27.
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27.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Bank balances and amounts due from securities
brokers

Majority of the bank balances are deposited in
reputable large commercial banks with credit rating
of Baal issued by Moody's. The securities brokers
are leading and reputable and are assessed as having
low credit risk. The Group has not suffered any
significant losses arising from the non-performance
by these brokers in the past and the management
does not expect this position to change in the
future.

Debt investment measured at amortised cost

The Group invested in unlisted bond issued by a
listed company in Hong Kong which exposed to
credit risk. The credit risk of debt investment is
managed through an internal process. The Group
actively monitors the outstanding amounts owed by
the issuer assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition.

Other receivables and deposits

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has
concentration credit risk of 75% (2021: 76%) of
the total receivables was due from the Group's
largest debtor. However, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis, the Directors
review the recoverable amount of each individual
other receivables regularly to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are recognised for irrecoverable
debts. In this regard, the Directors consider that the

Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.
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27.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

27.

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at

31 December 2022

The table below shows the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the
Group's credit policy, which is mainly based on past
due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December 2022. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial

idated Financial Statements

cREREEEEREE (&)

SRRAREE (£)

B R R EFF S (&)
REZFEZZF+ZH=1—HHRSE
SRR R F KB R
TREATREBEASEEEERNEE
BxkEaEERR (EFXZRER
TEHER (RIFEEEMERTES
BEKARBHRATES)ETE) R
RZEZZF+ZA=T—HHERXR
RSB -F2IEHEASREEN
BRI 4R 1E -

assets.
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
SEIMERR E2MER SE3MEER )
At 31 December 2022 12-month/lifetime ECLs HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZEZZF+ZA=+—8 12688 /2HREEEER BETR BETR BETR BETR
Debt investment measured Lifetime ECL
at amortised cost (not credit-impaired) 20,924 - - 20,924
REHFEKATEZ 2HEREERE
BERE (REERE)
Deposits 12-month 42 - - 42
iz 1218 B
Due from securities brokers 12-month 400 - - 400
JE W38 5 48 42 7R 1218 A
Other receivables 12-month 53,190 - - 53,190
Hofth & Y 3R IE 1218 A
Bank balances and cash 12-month 7,424 - - 7,424
RITHEFLIRS 1218 A
81,980 - - 81,980
BEBMTEXELABRAA 2022 8%
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 27. SHIEREEBERBEK (&)

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued) SEEREE (&)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EE bR EFE (&)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at R-ZE-Z—F+ - A=+—HHRS

31 December 2022 (Continued) B R FRE R (4E)
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
FIEE BB FIRE At

At 31 December 2021 12-month/lifetime ECLs HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RZBE-—5+-A=+—0 NEAA/:HRHEEEEFE A%Tt BETT BETT BETT

Deposits 12-month 39 - - 39
®e 1218 A
Due from securities brokers 12-month 2,234 - - 2,234
JE W38 5 48 42 TR 1218 A
Other receivables 12-month 17,000 - 10,855 27,855
H fth & Y R IE 1218 A
Bank balances and cash 12-month 621 - - 621
RITEFLRE 1218 A

19,894 - 10,855 30,749
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27.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at
31 December 2022 (Continued)

Credit risk for deposits at other financial institutions
is considered as not material taking into account the
good market reputations of the counter parties.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance
between continuity of funding and flexibility through
the utilisation of margin facilities of securities
brokers. The Group will keep reviewing its financial
needs from time to time to determine the timing of
obtaining various borrowings or carrying out fund
raising activities.

As at 31 December 2022, the remaining
undiscounted contractual maturity profile of the
Group's non-derivative financial liabilities at the end
of the reporting period, based on the earliest date
on which the Group is required to settle at the end
of the reporting period, based on the remaining
contractual maturities, are with one year or on
demand (2021: within one year or on demand).

Capital management

The objectives of the Group's capital management are
to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to provide returns for shareholders.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments, including payment of dividend to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce debts. No changes
were made in the objectives during the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.

27.
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 27.
AND POLICIES (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)
Capital management (Continued)
Pursuant to the provision of articles of association
of the Company, the Company may exercise its
borrowing power to borrow up to an aggregate
principal amount for the time being remaining
discharged of all money borrowed by the Group not
exceeding 50% of the net asset value. The Group
monitors capital on the basis of debt-to-adjusted
capital ratio, which is net debt divided by adjusted
capital. The debt-to-adjusted capital ratios at the
end of the financial period were as follows:

idated Financial Statements

TREREEEERBEK (&)

SHEBREE (&)
EREE ()

BB A B B R MR 2 3 A
AFATELERES  EAKSE
58 (BD A 5 % B 5 ok (2 12 20)
5% T BBE R FET0%  AEE
RS S R A A R (AR
SIS LA TR G AR BB AR o OB
BT R B A A L K
AR

2022 2021

—E=-= —ET - —F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Due to securities broker ERBHELRL 2T 1 1
Less: Due from securities brokers B R IR S AR a0 FRIE (400) (2,234)
Less: Bank balances and cash B RITEFLERES (7,424) (621)
Net receivable JE U 3R I8 F BE (7,823) (2,854)
Total equity s 185,087 217,049
Net of unrealised reserves REREHFRE - -
Adjusted capital 1T E R 185,087 217,049
Debt-to-adjusted capital ratio BEEHECHABRERL R N/A i F N/A 71~ 3 A
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28.

(a)

idated Financial Statements
IS s 2% Y 5

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 28. QA REFE
The following presents the Group's financial TX2FiRHE AR ERIEES
instruments measured at fair value at the end of the BB ELANEI3RAABIAERTE
reporting period across the three levels of the fair Z=EBARERNEDRARERE
value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair Value ZAEBEERTIAE MAREFNED
Measurement, with the fair value measurement TEREBEHEHTEBEECKERE
categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level WABBS B W ABBERATH
input that is significant to the entire measurement. T
The levels of inputs are defined as follows:
Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices . F—EB(ZRE) ~NEERE
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical EHHENES ZHEREEK
assets or liabilities that the Group can access BERERMSZ 2WME (CREK
at the measurement date; AR
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices . FE_E-EEXBEIVEESN
included within Level 1 that are observable BEER G AR (T8
for the asset or liability, either directly or FE—EBANZHRE)
indirectly;
Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for . FoE(HREE) BEXAE
the asset or liability. Z NP ER R A\ B o
Assets measured at fair value () RBRAAREFEZEE
2022 —E--
The Group
rEE
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
-8 ¥5-F E5=F Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000
BETR BT BT BETRT
Equity investment at fair ERABRBRRAAEIRZ
value through profit or loss ~RA&EE
Listed equity investments Tl ARE 118,858 - - 118,858
118,858 - - 118,858

BERTEXEAARAR 2022 FR
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28. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 28. QAEFE(Z
(a) Assets measured at fair value (Continued) (a) BAAREEZEE (&)
2021 -
The Group
A5E
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—E g Ey A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BT BETT
Equity investment at fair EBRERRAABIEZ
value through profit or loss RA&KRE
Listed equity investments FaRARE 136,623 - - 136,623
Unlisted equity investments FEMRAERE - - 58,500 58,500
136,623 - 58,500 195,123

During the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021, there were no transfers among
Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3 fair value
measurements.
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28. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 28. AQAEFE(ZE
(a) Assets measured at fair value (Continued) () BAAREEZEE (&)
Movement in Level 3 fair value FEoZERAAEFEZEE
measurements
Fair value measurement at the end of the RERZAREE:
year:
2022
—s=-=
Equity
investments
at fair value
through
profit or loss
BREBEZR
AREYRZ
BAEBE
HK$'000
BET T
At beginning of the year R E A 58,500
Disposal & (58,500)
At end of the year RER -
Change in unrealised gains or FRB TR
losses for the year included in EETTABRR
profit or loss for assets held at ZFRARBHRWE
the end of the year RGEEE -
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28. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 28. RDAREFE(E
(a) Assets measured at fair value (Continued) (@) RBRAREBEHEZEE(£)
Movement in Level 3 fair value EZERAAENECEE (Z)

measurements (Continued)

2021
—E-—F
Equity
investments
at fair value
through
profit or loss
FHiBE R IR
NREYERZ
RAKE
HK$'000
BT T
At beginning of the year 75 7] 100,592
Disposal & (19,000)
Change in fair value NAEEE (23,092)
At end of the year REXR 58,500
Change in unrealised gains or F R
losses for the year included in EEGTAER
profit or loss for assets held at ZERREBR R
the end of the year RNEEEH (23,092)
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28.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Assets measured at fair value (Continued)
Quantitative information of the significant
unobservable inputs and description of
valuation technique used in Level 3 fair
value measurement

The quantitative information of the significant
unobservable inputs and description of
valuation techniques used in Level 3 fair value
measurement, including the description of the
sensitivity to changes in unobservable inputs
for recurring Level 3 fair value measurements,
are as follows:

idated Financial Statements
IS s 2% Y 5

28.
(a)

DMREFE(EF)

RAREEZEE (&)
EATHEZHAR B EE
ERERRE=ZELLEEA
F2Z 1 B M55

ERTABEGARBZTEE
ERARE=ZEANEEM
RZEEZRMHA (BHEEH
KREME=ZELrrEAEZT
ABRGABBREY ZHRE
)

Relationship of

31 December 31 December  Valuation Significant unobservable unobservable inputs
Financial assets 2022 2021 technique(s) input(s) Range to fair value
it St - 3
t=h +ZA EXTURE TUBREBAYEA

SREE =t+-H =t-8  fERE BAHE il MEZHE

HK$'000 HK$'000

BETR BETR
Unlisted equity - 58,500  Sales consideration N/A N/A N/A

securities stated in agreement

FLARAES RBZEPIIANHEERE  TER TER TER
Valuation processes of the Group AEBZ 1L EBFE

The management of the Group reviews
the estimation of fair value of the unlisted
equity securities that are not traded in stock
markets which are categorised into level
3 of the fair value hierarchy. Fair values of
these unlisted securities are determined with
reference to the valuation reports prepared by
independent professional qualified valuers on
an annual basis. Discussion of the valuation
process and results with the Directors and
Audit Committee is held twice a year, for the
Group’s interim and annual reporting.

33 N= 3
/;F'f /=

AEEEEEEHNTERNEKT
BEEZHLEMRAEZRZ DA
BEE DOBERE=ZEAR
BEEA -ZFFLTEFZA
REDEZEHBIEELE
RAGERN IR FEEERHNMG
BEREEE - AKESFHME
EBRENMERBEENENER
BEEITMR R AFET
AEBZHHNFERR-

HFEXEABRAAF 2022 &R
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29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 29. B TEAR R 3R
2022 2021
—E:=-= —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEET T BT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Debt investment measured HEENAGTEZ
at amortised cost BERE 17,100 -
Amounts due from subsidiaries & Y[ B A &) F 1B 167,547 220,541
184,647 220,541
Current assets REBEE
Deposits and prepayments we RFENRK 64 271
Bank balances and cash RITHEGFEARS 1,734 166
1,798 437
Current liabilities REBEE
Amount due to a subsidiary &S — M B QB FIE 3,215 3,361
Other payables and accruals  Efth B &fﬂ'%?ﬁ 1,303 587
4,518 3,948
Net current liabilities REBEEFHE (2,720) (3,511)
Total assets less current EEHAERARDER
liabilities 181,927 217,030
NET ASSETS EEFHE 181,927 217,030
Capital and reserves RAR &
Share capital N 281 276
Reserves (Note) s (Aat) 181,646 216,754
TOTAL EQUITY R 181,927 217,030
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of ERBEEFENR_T_=F=FH

Directors on 31 March 2023. =t+— BHERRET) -

YE Ying SHUM Kit Lan Anita
BHE -3 |

Director Director

= EF
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29.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

CE - A=1—HILFE

29. HMBRRE(EZ)

Note: Bt -
MOVEMENT OF RESERVE RE2H
Share Contribution Share option Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
A3 R E BAEH  BRERE R ER Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BT BT BETT
At 1 January 2022 R-E-—%F
—A—H 1,064,393 186,046 4,078 (1,037,763) 216,754
Issue of shares upon exercise 717 & B IR 15
of share options BITRAD 1,421 - (428) - 993
Grant of share options R Bk - - 11,120 - 11,120
Loss and total comprehensive FAEERZE
loss for the year EEeRE - - - (47,221) (47,221)
At 31 December 2022 R-ZB=ZZF
+=A=t-8 1,065,814 186,046 14770 (1,084,984) 181,646
1 January 2021 R-ZBE-—%
—A—H 1,056,868 186,046 1,871 (1,018,909) 225,876
Issue of shares upon exercise 717 {# B IR 1 RS
of share options BIIR G 1,848 - (572) - 1,276
Issue of new shares BEREETHRR
under placing 5,677 - - - 5,677
Grant of share options R E - - 3,194 - 3,194
Lapsed of share options BlRELAR - - (415) 415 -
Loss and total comprehensive  FREE R 2 E
loss for the year BREAE - - - (19,269) (19,269)
At 31 December 2021 R-B=-F
+=-A=+-H 1,064,393 186,046 4,078 (1,037,763) 216,754

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
the share premium, subject to a solvency test and the
Company’s memorandum and article of association,

is distributable to the shareholders.

The Company
had a distributable reserve of HK$181,646,000 as at
31 December 2022 (2021: HK$216,754,000).

BREREHESRARE TRBAMENE
Bl e AN X B AR A R2 KA I A8 Bl AR
BT OB HIKTRR- AR
AR+ A=+—HZA#
DR BB 181,646,000 (=&
— — 4 B#216,754,0007T) °

BEHFTEXEAARLAT 2022 £ 167



Financial Summary

YAZ HAL &R
B s =
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
ZECZCZf "R —_E-FF —FT-NF —T-)\&F
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BT AT BAETT EETr BT
Results %E
(Loss)/Gain from the sale of HEBBERRK
listed investments at fair N ENERZ
value through profit or loss rHEEZ
(BB) /WE (47,047) 3,030 14 (101,631)  (15,402)
Loss before tax B A B 1 (44,080)  (22,644)  (42,368)  (70,637) (123,270)
Income tax FriS i - - - - -
Loss attributable to equity RRBERFEA
holders of the Company fE1L 518 (44,080)  (22,644)  (42,368)  (70,637) (123,270)
Assets and liabilities BERER
Total assets EERE 186,490 217,720 230,110 266,360 364,153
Total liabilities BERE (1,403) (671) (617) (1,291)  (28,862)
Total equity BIREZE 185,087 217,049 229,493 265,069 335,291

1 68 ANNUAL REPORT 2022 Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited



This annual report is printed on environmentally friendly paper

REHRARRATEDE

4
4

HARBOUR DIGITAL

Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited
BEBRFEXERFRLT



	封面
	目錄
	公司資料
	主席報告及管理層討論及分析
	董事個人履歷
	董事會報告
	企業管治報告
	環境、 社會及管治報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合現金流量報表
	綜合股東權益變動表
	綜合財務報表附註
	財務概要
	封底



